# THE CONTROLS AND DRIVERS OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON QUANTITY AND DISSOLVED ORGANIC MATTER QUALITY IN AN IMPACTED GREAT LAKES WATERSHED

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Singh; McMaster University - School of Geography and Earth Sciences

# THE CONTROLS AND DRIVERS OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON QUANTITY AND DISSOLVED ORGANIC MATTER QUALITY IN AN IMPACTED GREAT LAKES WATERSHED

# By SUPRIYA SINGH, B.Sc

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University ©Copyright by Supriya Singh, September 2019

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2019)

MCMASTER UNIVERSITY

EARTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

HAMILTON, CANADA

TITLE: The controls and drivers of dissolved organic carbon quantity and dissolved organic matter quality in an impacted Great Lakes Watershed

AUTHOR: Supriya Singh, B.Sc – Integrated Science (McMaster University)

SUPERVISORS: Dr. Sean K. Carey

NUMBER OF PAGES: 111

# ABSTRACT

Intensely managed and modified catchments in the Great Lakes are linked to eutrophication and hypoxia of receiving water bodies downstream, resulting in water quality impairment, and adverse impacts on aquatic ecology. While much focus has been on the role of phosphorous and nitrogen, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) plays a complex and critical role in lake biogeochemical cycles, as it influences the interations between nutrients and contaminants in water and soil through processes of mobilization, transport, biological uptake, and deposition. Human-dominated landscapes have a range of consequences on DOC dynamics as catchment hydrology, plant cover, and nutrient inputs are altered in these environments. As such, the objectives of this study were to identify the controls and drivers of DOC quantity and DOM quality in the Spencer Creek watershed, which is the largest contributor of water to Cootes Paradise that ultimately drains into Lake Ontario. The 159 km<sup>2</sup> study area of the catchment is complex, as the present landscape is composed of a mosaic of various land uses including agriculture, forest, wetland, urban, and industrial regions. Flow alterations contribute to the complexity of the watershed as there are managed reservoirs and alterations in water courses. From 2016-2018, hydrometric data was collected across 9 monitoring sites, along with surface water samples that were analyzed for DOC concentration and optical properties. Results indicate differences in flow magnitudes and stream DOC between dry and wet conditions, where concentrations during wet conditions were significantly higher compared to dry. Additionally, there was substantial variation in DOC concentration and quality across the Spencer Creek watershed. DOC concentrations were found to be the lowest at groundwater influenced sites in the headwaters of the watershed, and the highest in the mid-catchment region where DOC quality was strongly influenced by wetland sources. The reservoir-influenced sites showed relatively intermediate concentrations of DOC, with quality that exhibited strong microbial signatures. At the outlet, DOC concentrations were attenuated and DOC quality was intermediate between allochthonous and autochthonous end members, reflecting upstream mixing processes. These processes were presented as a conceptual model of water and DOC movement through the Spencer Creek watershed. The implications of this research suggest that with anticipated wetter and warmer conditions DOC concentrations would increase in the watershed. The repercussions of increased DOC concentrations overall imply a decrease of terrestrial carbon storage, and greater input into more reactive and susceptible pools, which may result in further water quality degradation. Overall, the findings from this research provide insight into the fate and transport of water and DOC in a complex, managed catchment in the Great Lakes region, with the aims of providing key information for local stakeholders.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would first like to thank my supervisor Dr. Sean Carey for his continuous support and guidance during both my undergraduate and graduate degrees. The opportunities you provided me are unparalleled to those I could have ever imagined, and for that I am so grateful Thank you for believing in me to run this project over the past 3 years. I would also like to acknowledge Scott Ketcheson for showing me the ropes when I first started working in the Watershed Hydrology group. Scott, I can never thank you enough for the wisdom, support, and guidance you have provided me. I am very fortunate that I had the opportunity to work with you, and under your wing when we began field work in Spencer Creek. To this day, when an obstacle occurs in the field, I often find myself asking "What would Scott do?" and it usually guides me to the correct answer. I would also like to express gratitude for my committee members, Dr. Mike Waddington and Dr. John Maclachlan.

Thank you to the many individuals that supported my field efforts, and provided encouragement along the way on this project. I will treasure the "real life chats" we have had, and your willingness to grab butter tarts from Dee's bakery. I would also like to thank everyone from the Watershed Hydrology group (Jessica Rastelli, Ryan Rolick, Haley Spennato, Kelly Biagi, Erin Nicholls, Nadine Shatilla, Victor Tang, Sean Leipe, Graham Scott, Luca Fabris, Ian Martin, Keegan Smith, and Sarah Irvine) for your feedback, support, friendship, and your willingness to discuss in-depth data analysis with me. A special thank you to Dr. Claire Oswald for providing me feedback on my DOC speculations and story.

This thesis would have not been possible without the support from Alicja Jazwiec, Alanna Bodo, Sophie Wilkinson, Rebecca Lee, Kenzie McIntyre, Gurpreet Banga, Nicole Sandler, Jaime Knoch, Rachel Nowak, Alana Hobson, Lucia Krivankova-Smal, Dakota Binkley, Meena Al-Saigh, Angelico Obille, Eva Clark-Lepard, and David McLeod-- thank you for keeping me grounded during this process.

I am forever grateful for the support from my entire family. Sapna, Harshdeep, and the Ansilios-you never fail to make me laugh and smile during high stress moments. To my partner Kyle, you have been right by my side during this entire process, thank you for your unconditional support, encouragement, and love. Finally, thank you to my mom and grandpa for encouraging me to do my best, even though you both have absolutely no clue as to what I do. You gave up your dreams so I could have mine, and that is something I can never repay you for--I am forever grateful. This work is dedicated to you.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT		
<u>ACK</u>	NOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TAB	LE OF CONTENTS	VI
LIST	TOF TABLES	VIII
LIST	T OF FIGURES	IX
<u>CHA</u>	PTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 1.2	CONTEXT THESIS OBJECTIVES	1 3
<u>CHA</u>	PTER 2: BACKGROUND	4
<ul> <li>2.1</li> <li>2.2</li> <li>2.3</li> <li>2.4</li> <li>2.5</li> <li>2.6</li> <li>2.7</li> <li>2.7.1</li> <li>2.7.2</li> <li>2.7.3</li> <li>2.7.4</li> <li>2.7.5</li> <li>2.8</li> </ul>	URBANIZATION IN THE GREAT LAKES DISSOLVED ORGANIC MATTER (DOM) AND DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON (DOC) BIOLOGICALLY LABILE AND RECALCITRANT DISSOLVED ORGANIC MATTER CONTROLS ON STREAM DOC EFFECTS OF HUMAN LAND USE ON DOC DOM QUALITY AND FLUORESCENCE DOM QUALITY INDICES FLUORESCENCE INDEX (FI) FRESHNESS INDEX ( $\beta/\alpha$ ) HUMIFICATION INDEX (HIX) SPECIFIC ULTRAVIOLET ABSORBANCE (SUVA <sub>254</sub> ) E2/E3 STABLE ISOTOPES OF WATER	4 5 6 7 8 10 11 11 12 12 12 12 13 13
<u>CHA</u>	PTER 3: SITE DESCRIPTION, MATERIALS, METHODS	15
<b>3.1</b> 3.1.1 3.1.2 3.1.3 <b>3.2</b> 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 <b>3.3</b> 3.3.1 3.3.2	STUDY AREA GEOLOGY OF THE SPENCER CREEK WATERSHED HYDROLOGY OF THE SPENCER CREEK WATERSHED LAND USE OF THE SPENCER CREEK WATERSHED MATERIALS AND FIELD METHODS SITE IDENTIFICATION HYDROMETRIC MEASUREMENTS WATER SAMPLING FLUORESCENCE SPECTROSCOPY ANALYSIS DATA AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS STATISTICAL TESTS CONCENTRATION-DISCHARGE ANALYSIS	<b>15</b> 15 16 17 <b>17</b> 17 18 19 20 <b>22</b> 22 22 23

3.3.3	PRINCIPLE COMPONENT ANALYSIS	23
3.3.4	LANDSCAPE ANALYSIS	24
3.3.5	STABLE ISOTOPE ANALYSIS	24
<u>CHA</u>	APTER 4: RESULTS	25
4.1	CLIMATE	25
4.2	Hydrology	25
4.2.1	DISCHARGE AND TOTAL RUNOFF	25
4.3	DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON (DOC)	27
4.3.1	TEMPORAL AND SPATIAL DOC PATTERNS	27
4.3.2	DOC CONCENTRATION-DISCHARGE	29
4.4	DOC QUALITY	30
4.4.1	FLUORESCENCE INDEX (FI)	30
4.4.2	FRESHNESS INDEX $(\beta / \alpha)$	31
4.4.3	HUMIFICATION INDEX (HIX)	31
4.4.4	SPECIFIC ULTRAVIOLET ABSORBANCE (SUVA254)	32
4.4.5	E2/E3	33
4.5	LANDSCAPE AND DOC CONCENTRATION AND QUALITY	34
4.5.1	PRINCIPLE COMPONENT ANALYSIS AND LANDSCAPE VARIABILITY	34
4.6	SOURCE WATERS FROM STABLE ISOTOPES ANALYSIS	35
4.7	STREAM TEMPERATURE (°C)	36
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION		38
5.1	CONCEPTUAL MODEL OF WATER AND DOC MOVEMENT IN THE SPENCER CREEK WATERSHED	39
511	DRIVERS OF HYDROLOGICAL VARIABILITY	39
5.1.2	DOC MOVEMENT AND TRANSFER DURING WET AND DRY YEARS	41
5.1.3	PROCESSES RESULTING IN SPATIAL VARIABILITY OF DOC CONCENTRATION AND DOM QUALITY IN	•••
THE I	PROPOSED CONCEPTUAL MODEL	44
5.1.4	PROCESSES RESULTING IN SEASONAL VARIABILITY OF DOC CONCENTRATIONS IN THE PROPOSED	
CON	CEPTUAL MODEL	51
5.1.5	PCA IN THE CONTEXT OF THE PROPOSED CONCEPTUAL MODEL	51
5.2	CHALLENGES, IMPLICATIONS, AND MANAGEMENT	52
5.2.1	CHALLENGES AND LIMITATIONS FOR WORKING IN HUMAN IMPACTED WATERSHEDS	52
5.2.2	IMPLICATIONS AND MANAGEMENT	53
СНА	APTER 6: CONCLUSION	55
<u>REF</u>	ERENCES	<u>58</u>
<u>TAB</u>	LES	67
<u>FIG</u>	URES	75
APP	ENDIX – SUPPLEMENTAL DATA	99

# LIST OF TABLES

# Chapter 2

Table 2.1Summary of fluorescence indices used in this study, the information each index<br/>provides on DOM quality, and its associated calculation.

# Chapter 3

Table 3.1Characteristics of the sampling sites in the Spencer Creek Watershed 2016-2018.<br/>The total area contributing to the sample location considers the total drainage area<br/>to that sampling location. Land use descriptions describe the land use of the<br/>contributing area to each site.

# Chapter 4

- Table 4.1Summary statistics of average DOC concentration, Fluorescence Index (FI 2005),<br/>Freshness Index ( $\beta/\alpha$ ), Humification Index (HIX 2002), SUVA254, and E2/E3 for<br/>all samples over the 2016-2018 study period. Number of samples used to<br/>calculate differential statistics are listed beside the average and standard deviation<br/>value.
- Table 4.2Dunn's Test of Multiple Comparisons (p-values) for same site comparisons over<br/>the 2016-2018 study period. Post-hoc test used to identify which years were<br/>significantly different from another. P-values are bolded where there is statistical<br/>significance (p<0.05). Empty boxes in the table indicate there is no significant<br/>different for that specific parameter and site, therefore a post-hoc was not<br/>completed.
- Table 4.3Three-year averages and standard deviations of DOC concentration (mg/L) and<br/>indices data across all monitoring sites from 2016-2018.
- Table 4.4Results from Spearman Correlation of DOC and DOM quality indices against<br/>percent land use cover. P values are bolded where there is statistical significance<br/>(p<0.05). Rho values (R) range from -1 to +1.
- Table 4.5Results from linear regression of logDOC-logQ relationships by site. P values<br/>indicate if slopes are significantly different from zero. P values are bolded where<br/>there is statistical significance (p<0.05).</th>
- Table 4.6Loadings from the Principal Component Analysis. Loadings range from -1 to +1,<br/>and are interpreted similar to correlations.

# Chapter 5

Table 5.1Results from correlation of PC1 along with land use, stream temperature, and<br/>discharge. P values are bolded where the variables are statistically correlated.

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

# Chapter 3

- Figure 3.1 Map of the study area in the Spencer Creek watershed. All monitoring sites are symbolized by red circles, with the watercourse in blue.
- Figure 3.2 Land use map of the study area within the Spencer Creek watershed. A land use analysis on ArcGIS was performed merging the Southern Ontario Land Use Information System 2.0 (2016) layer and the Agriculture Canada Annual Crop Inventory (2016) layer. Spencer Creek is 49% agriculture, 21% wetland, 11% forest, 8% urban, 2% extraction, 1% open water, and 10% undefined.

# Chapter 4

- Figure 4.1 Total precipitation and monthly average air temperature during the 2016-2018 study period. Data obtained from the Hamilton RBG Weather Station (43.28 N, 79.88 W).
- Figure 4.2 Discharge (m<sup>3</sup>/s) over 2016-2018. Note, Y axes scales differ due to differences in discharge magnitudes.
- Figure 4.3 Total monthly runoff (mm) over 2016-2018. Runoff was normalized to the total contributing area to each site.
- Figure 4.4 Boxplot of DOC concentration (mg/L) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.
- Figure 4.5 DOC concentrations and indices vs. percent contributing wetland cover. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 4.4).
- Figure 4.6 DOC concentrations and indices vs. percent contributing agricultural cover. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 4.4).
- Figure 4.7 DOC concentrations and indices vs. percent contributing urban cover. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 4.4).
- Figure 4.8 DOC concentrations (mg/L) over time, for the 2016-2018 study period
- Figure 4.9 Log DOC concentration- log discharge relationships by site over 2016-2018. Trendlines indicate significant relationships between the variables (p<0.05) (Table 4.5).
- Figure 4.10 Watershed scale log DOC concentration- log discharge plots on logarithmic axes. All points of instantaneous concentration and discharge collected over 2016-2018 are plotted here with a trendline displaying a significant positive slope of 0.16 (p <0.05).

Figure 4.11	Boxplot of the Fluorescence Index (FI) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.
Figure 4.12	Boxplot of the Freshness Index ( $\beta/\alpha$ ) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.
Figure 4.13	Boxplot of the Humification Index (HIX 2002) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.
Figure 4.14	Boxplot of the SUVA <sub>254</sub> (L/mg-M) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.
Figure 4.15	Boxplot of the E2/E3 distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.
Figure 4.16	PCA analysis for DOC and indices data collected over the study period for all 9 sites. Biplots of the PCA are coloured according to these landscape groupings, with ellipses on the plot representing 80% probability of values being within the shape.
Figure 4.17	Regressions of PCI to DOC concentrations and DOM indices. Samples are grouped by landscape units within the watershed.
Figure 4.18	Regressions of PC2 to DOC concentrations and DOM indices. Samples are grouped by landscape units within the watershed.
Figure 4.19	Plot of $\delta^2$ H ‰ vs. $\delta^{18}$ O ‰ over 2016-2018 across the different landscape units. The solid line is the LMWL whereas the dashed line is the LEL.
Figure 4.20	Boxplot of stream temperature (°C) distributions at all sites over 2016-2018.

# Chapter 5

- Figure 5.1 The proposed conceptual model of DOC transfer and water movement within the Spencer Creek watershed during (A) dry vs (B) wet conditions. Monitoring sites are grouped by landscape units. Dashed red arrows indicate limited DOC transfer whereas solid red arrows indicate greater transfer of DOC. The thickness of the red arrows indicates the magnitude of DOC concentrations relative to other regions in the watershed. Circular red arrows represent processing of DOM. Blue lines represent the watercourse through Spencer Creek during low runoff conditions, whereas the shaded blue lines represent higher runoff conditions. Shaded green wetland regions represent greater hydrologic connectivity between landscape and stream during wet condition.
- Figure 5.2 Correlation plots of PC1 versus land use, stream temperature, and discharge. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 5.1)

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

# 1.1 Context

Freshwater systems are vulnerable to human influences and activities such as land cover changes, industrialization, urbanization, and agriculture (Basu et al., 2011; Vörösmarty et al., 2010). These activities maximize human access to water and are essential for economic growth, however such modifications to the natural landscape often result in ecosystem impairment and water quality degradation. In the Great Lakes Watershed, extensive changes in land cover first occurred during European settlement two centuries ago, when land resources were needed for economic growth and agricultural purposes (Copeland et al., 1996; Mao and Cherkauer, 1996). Resultantly, there is currently 40% less forest cover surrounding the Great Lakes region compared to pre-settlement conditions, as substantial deforestation occurred to convert land use into cropland (Cole et al., 1998; Copeland et al., 1996).

As growth in this region continues, there are initiatives in place to improve water quality in the Great Lakes region, such as The Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement (GLWQA) between the United States and Canada, which was initially signed in 1972 in response to controlling eutrophication processes due to elevated phosphorus levels (Depinto et al., 1986). In Ontario, the Ontario Water Resources Act (1990) governs the conservation and management of Ontario's waters with the goal of sustainable water use, and long-term environmental well-being of the waters (Government of Ontario, 2018), and the more recent Great Lakes Protection Act (2015) aims to restore the ecological health of the Great Lakes Basin (Government of Ontario, 2015).

On a watershed scale, water management is governed by Conservation Ontario under the Conservation Authorities Act initiated in 1946 (Government of Ontario, 1990). Ontario's 36 conservation authorities aim to mandate conservation, restoration, and management of Ontario's water on a community level (Conservation Ontario, 2018). To achieve their goals, Conservation Ontario implements an Integrated Watershed Management Approach which considers economic, societal, and environmental factors. However, the success of this strategy is highly dependent on achieving a balance between human activities and resource use, and ecosystem conservation (Vörösmarty et al., 2010). Overall, the need for such acts and best watershed management practices is critical as water quality issues in this region are becoming increasingly important due to climate change (Government of Ontario, 2015).

Water quality impairment is an integrated problem with various causes and consequences. However, efforts for management and restoration only focus on a subset of variables that are of immediate concern generally including nitrogen, phosphorous, sediment, or flow (Stanley et al., 2012). Understanding the concentration and quality of organic carbon exported in streams and rivers rarely motivates management practices, despite organic carbon's critical role in biogeochemical cycles (Wilson and Xenopoulos, 2009). Dissolved organic carbon (DOC), which represents the major organic carbon pool in most aquatic ecosystems, is a "modulator" of lake and stream processes (Prairie, 2008; Wetzel, 2001). DOC modifies the influence of other chemicals apparent in waters, and resultantly affects ecosystem structure and function in these environments (Prairie, 2008). As such, understanding DOC regimes in terms of concentration and quality is important, especially in human-impacted and modified environments that differ from natural conditions, as DOC regimes may be altered with greater pools of bioavailable DOM.

# **1.2 Thesis Objectives**

Human influenced catchments with altered land use from natural regimes affect DOC quantities and quality. However, the relationship between hydrological and biogeochemical processes, and their interactions in these complex, managed systems are not well understood. As such, the objective of this work is to identify the controls and drivers of DOC concentration and DOM quality variability in a Great Lakes Watershed using hydrogeochemical and hydrometric data. Specifically, this work will identify if there is a relationship between seasonal and catchment-specific hydrological patterns and DOC variation in concentration and quality. This will test the hypotheses that DOC is (1) temporally variable during the study period and (2) DOC quantity and quality varies across the watershed due to landscape variability and hydrological differences. Overall, this work aims to provide insight into the fate and transport of water and DOC in a complex, managed catchment.

# **CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND**

# 2.1 Urbanization in the Great Lakes

Urbanization in Great Lakes regions has resulted in complex landscapes composed of various land use types, hydrological responses, and biogeochemical processes (O'Driscoll et al., 2010; Wang and Kanehl, 2003; Wilcox, 2010). The effects of expanding urbanization in these regions alters drainage networks, catchment flow regimes, and hydrological connectivity (Taniguchi, 1997). Overall physical water storage dynamics within these managed and urbanizing watersheds are poorly understood. These underlying hydrological controls not only characterize flow regimes, but also influence geochemistry processes and patterns (Morrice et al., 1997).

In human-impacted watersheds, hydrologic and biogeochemical responses reflect the features of the natural landscape, as well as the catchment modifications (Basu et al., 2011). Land use type also affects hydrology, as agricultural, ubran, and forested landscapes export distinct nutrient types and amounts, directly affecting downstream water quality (Crosbie and Chow-Fraser, 1999; Peterjohn and Correll, 1984; Steedman, 1988; Wang and Kanehl, 2003). With all these factors considered, intensely managed and modified catchements in the Great Lakes are linked to eutrophication and hypoxia of receiving water bodies downstream (Diaz and Rosenberg, 2008; Kemp et al., 2009). This results in degraded water quality, and adverse impacts on aquatic ecology in the Great Lakes. It is critical to understand the interplay between hydrological and biogeochemical processes, and their interactions in these complex managed systems, as they provide insight into the fate and transport of water and solutes. While much focus has been on the role of nitrogen and phosphorous (Conley et al., 2009; Ryther and Dunstan, 1971), dissolved

organic matter (DOM) plays a complex and critical role in lake biogeochemical cycles as the presence of organic matter has the potential to both modify the effect and consequences of other chemical constituents and processes in lake and river systems (Prairie, 2008; Stanley et al., 2012; Wilson and Xenopoulos, 2009).

#### 2.2 Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) and Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC)

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) is a complex mixture of organic material including organic acids, macromolecules, and fulvic or humic substances that pass through a 0.45 µm filter in solution (Gergel et al., 1999; Khan et al., 2013; Moore et al., 1998). Despite DOM representing a small fraction of total organic matter, it is the most mobile and active portion as it has a range of implications in terrestrial and aquatic environments (Bolan et al., 2011).

DOM fractions within freshwater systems originate from autochthonous (microbial) or allochthonous (terrestrial) sources. Microbially produced DOM is formed in lakes through microbial respiration by organisms including phytoplankton and other photosynthetic bacteria, whereas terrestrially produced DOM forms through the decomposition and degradation of plant matter and detritus (Khan et al., 2013; Spence et al., 2011). Terrestrially derived DOM primarily enters aquatic systems through the leaching of the surrounding environment into the lakes or streams.

DOM plays a critical role in the global biogeochemical cycle as it influences the interations between nutrients and contaminants in water and soil through processes of mobilization, transport, biological uptake, and deposition (Bolan et al., 2011; Pokrovsky and Shirokova, 2017).

# M.Sc. Thesis - S. Singh; McMaster University - School of Geography and Earth Sciences

DOM attenuates light due to its yellow-like colour, limiting primary productivity due to a lack of sufficient sunlight required for photosynthesis (Gergel et al., 1999; Khan et al., 2013). Additionally, DOM binds to environmentally harmful trace metals such as copper, mercury, and aluminum forming complexes, and this overall enhances metal solubility and bioavailability (Guo et al., 2001; McKnight et al., 2001; Shafer et al., 1997). The availability of DOM also supports bacterial secondary production, in turn promoting the accessibility of phosphorus to phytoplankton (Gergel et al., 1999).

As carbon composes bulk compostion of organic matter, DOM is quantified through measuring dissoved organic carbon (DOC) concentration (Khan et al., 2013). DOC production is based on the partial decomposition of microbial, terrestrial, or anthropogenically derived organic matter accompanied by its dissolution in pore water. Over the past two decades, an increase in DOC concentrations has been observed throughout Europe and North America (Evans, 2006). With global climate change and increasing temperatures, DOC concentrations in freshwater systems are expected to increase in the future due to higher input of flow from catchments to lake (Thrane et al., 2014). The repercussions of increased DOC concentrations overall implies a decrease of terrestrial carbon storage, and greater input into more reactive and susceptible pools that have greater negative implications (Evans, 2006).

### 2.3 Biologically Labile and Recalcitrant Dissolved Organic Matter

From a biological perspective, DOM can be classified into labile or recalcitrant pools. Labile DOM primarily originates from microbial (autochthonous) sources, and is bioavailable (Lindell et al., 1995). Resultantly, labile pools of DOM are more easily consumed by bacteria as

the structure of this DOM is composed of lower molecular weight compounds, and is less complex in structure. Terrestrially derived (allochthonous) DOM is relatively more refractory or recalcitrant, as the structure of recalcitrant DOM is more complex and is composed of high molecular weight compounds (Münster and Chróst, 1990). Recalcitrant DOM undergoes phases of microbial degradation and transformations prior to reaching aquatic environments (Lindell et al., 1995).

#### 2.4 Controls on Stream DOC

Surface water DOC concentrations vary spatially and temporally as a result of processes occurring in the surrounding terrestrial environment and in-stream (Dawson et al., 2008; Winterdahl et al., 2016). The "base case" scenario describes the drivers and controls of river and stream DOC, which views stream and river DOC as a sequence of terrestrial accumulation, transfer of this DOC into the channel, and in-stream processing (Stanley et al., 2012). DOC in lotic ecosystems, which are characterized by flowing waters, such as streams, creeks and rivers, are typically dominated by terrestrial sources (Aitkenhead-Peterson et al., 2003). Generally, land cover and landscape attributes also be used as predictors for the terrestrial accumulation of DOC as soil type, wetland cover, and topography all play a role (Mulholland and Hill, 1997). The transfer of terrestrial DOC into surrounding channels can be explained by climate variables, as it occurs either hydrologically through connectivity between the surrounding environment and stream, or through atmospheric inputs seasonally from throughfall. In-stream processing affects the quantity and quality of DOC once transferred due to numerous processes including photooxidation, photolysis, biodegradation, microbial processing, respiration, and

adsorption/desorption of DOC. Previous studies have determined that the fraction of DOC subject to degradation is < 5- 30% which is moderately small (Stanley et al., 2012). In-stream processing of DOC is complex, as processes occur simultaneously and affect the analysis of DOC quality. For instance, photolysis, the process in which UV light from the sun separates molecules, can break down the larger components of DOM structure, to smaller, labile, lower molecular weight DOM (Hansen et al., 2016; Laurion and Mladenov, 2013; Moran and Covert, 2007). Resultantly, photolysis of DOC is a sink of DOM in surface layers of lakes, and may ultimately stimulate microbial activity and promote bacterial production (Hansen et al., 2016; Lindell et al., 1995). However, photolysis may also transform labile, lower weight compounds to higher molecular weight recalcitrant material through subsequent reactions. Biodegradation, another in-stream process that affects DOC concentration and quality, is the process of decomposition of organic material by microorganisms. This results in loss of labile, low molecular weight DOM material (including proteins and organic acids), and may be accompanied by the production of high molecular weight material (e.g. fulvic and humic acids), through processes of transforming existing DOM components (Hansen et al., 2016). Considering these two processes alone, and how they alter DOM structure, it is evident that there are several factors and processes at play that affect the end product observed within a single water sample.

# 2.5 Effects of Human Land Use on DOC

Wetlands are a key source of DOC into streams and rivers (Creed et al., 2003; Eckhardt and Moore, 1990; Gergel et al., 1999; Mulholland, 1997). Greater wetland cover is associated with higher DOC concentrations and loads, and subsequently, percent wetland is a strong predictor for increases in DOC concentration (Eckhardt and Moore, 1990). In human-modified

landscapes containing small wetland coverage, modifications to the landscape influence DOC loads and concentration in stream and river systems, however there is a need to better understand these processes (Mulholland and Hill, 1997). Human-modified catchments typically have changes in land use (e.g. plant cover, soil, nutrients) and catchment hydrology (altered channels, reservoirs, dams), which differ from natural conditions prior to disturbance. With the "base case" model of terrestrial accumulation, transfer, and in-stream processing, any change in the terrestrial environment compared to natural or "base" conditions, may consequently change DOC concentration or quality in streams and rivers. Previous studies have been able to determine land use effects on DOC in streams, however, others have not. For instance, agricultural land use has been found to increase (Chow et al., 2007; Molinero and Burke, 2009), decrease (Cronan et al., 1999), or have no effect (Aitkenhead-Peterson et al., 2007) on stream DOC. However, this may be a result of various management practices across study sites, diversity in crop types, and other characteristics unique to each individual agricultural site. Despite the magnitude of DOC concentrations and loads yielding a variety of results across agricultural sites, the composition of DOC between undisturbed and human-impacted catchments displays consistent observations across various land use types and locations. Compositional changes observed from undisturbed to human impacted DOC include changes from high-to-low molecular weight DOC, reduced aromaticity, and increased lability of DOC (Wilson and Xenopoulos, 2009). Land use cover changes due to urbanization is associated with degraded water quality, primarily due to the effects of increased impervious surfaces and drainage channel modifications. Stormwater runoff is also of concern as storm events provide a transport mechanism due to the flushing of non-point source pollutants and contaminants (Goonetilleke et al., 2005). The "first flush phenomenon" describes the observed increase in pollutant concentrations for urban runoff during the rising

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Singh; McMaster University - School of Geography and Earth Sciences

limb, preceding peak flow on the hydrograph (Deletic, 1998). Similar to the influence of agriculture on DOC, studies looking at the influence of urbanized landscapes on stream DOC concentration suggest mixed results of both an observed increase (Aitkenhead-Peterson et al., 2009; Goonetilleke et al., 2005) and decrease (Maloney et al., 2005) in stream DOC.

#### 2.6 DOM Quality and Fluorescence

The structure and quality of DOM is complex as its composition varies spatially and temporally within freshwater ecosystems (Aiken, 2014). Characterising DOM composition provides information on its chemical composition, providing insight into how DOM reacts in the envrionment (Hansen et al., 2016). Fluorescence spectrometry has provided a straightforward technique in characterising the nature and quality of DOM across a range of different aquatic environments. Effectively, fluorescence spectrometry techniques are used to "fingerprint" DOM sources and origins, through determining the absorbance and emission properties of DOM structures (Aiken, 2014; Cory and McKnight, 2005; Spencer et al., 2007).

Absorption of light in the UV-visible spectrum (190-780 nm) occurs when the excitation of electrons in a chemical bond jump from a ground energy state to an excited one (Valeur, 2001). The molecular complexicty of the structure reflects the wavelength absorbed. Molecules with greater complexity such as aromatics absorb light at longer wavelengths (lower energy) and absorb light more easily, whereas simpler single-bonded molecules such as alkanes and carbohydrates absorb shorter wavelengths outside the UV-visible light spectrum as greater energy is required to reach a higher state (Aiken, 2014). Light is emitted when excited electrons return to their ground state after absorption, displaying the phenomenon of fluorescence (Valeur,

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Singh; McMaster University - School of Geography and Earth Sciences

2001). Similar to absorption, the molecular structure reflects the intensity of fluorescence with complex structures fluorescing at a greater instensity compared to simpler structures.

Fluorescence spectrometry techniques assume that the molecules composing the structure of DOM behave similarly to pure compounds in solution. Resultantly, any change in fluorescence paramater such as intensity, absorbance, or peak width reflects the variation in DOM structure and constituents (Aiken, 2014).

## **2.7 DOM Quality Indices**

Fluorescence data is presented in several ways including excitation-emission matricies (EEMs) and fluorescence indices. EEMs are the most common way of displaying fluorescence data as EEM spectra contain a vast amount of information, and graphically display where peak intensities are occuring (Aiken, 2014). Fluorescence indices are commonly used to characterize DOM quality in terms of precursor material and processes (Cory and McKnight, 2005; Wilson and Xenopoulos, 2009), humification (Ohno, 2002), and composition and moluecular structure (Peuravuori and Pihlaja, 1997; Weishaar et al., 2003). Indices and their general use are summarized in Table 2.1.

### 2.7.1 Fluorescence Index (FI)

The fluoresence index (FI) is a qualitative way of measuring the relative proportion of terrestrial and microbial source of the fluorphores, that are asoccisiated with humic DOM fractions (Cory et al., 2011; Cory and McKnight, 2005). A FI values of ~1.8 suggest DOM

precursor material is more microbial in nature, where as values of FI  $\sim$ 1.2 display a more terrestrial signature.

# 2.7.2 Freshness Index $(\beta/\alpha)$

The freshness index ( $\beta/\alpha$ ) is used to differentiate microbial and terrestial sources of DOM, where  $\beta$  represents more recently derived DOM which is likely to be microbial in source, and  $\alpha$  represents highly decomposed DOM (Coble et al., 2014; Wilson and Xenopoulos, 2009). Overall, the ratio of  $\beta/\alpha$  is qualitative, and its interpretation provides an indication of the relative contribution of recently produced DOM, as increasing values suggest microbial inputs (Parlanti et al., 2000).

# 2.7.3 Humification Index (HIX)

Humification is the process through which organic matter is formed through microbial synthesis (Ohno, 2002). During the humification process, lower molecular weight compounds undergo polycondensation where the smaller molecules are split out, resulting in condensed, higher molecular weight polymers. The humification index (HIX) describes the degree of humification, where higher values suggest a greater degree of humification, more structurally complex DOM, and a lower H/C ratio (Coble et al., 2014; Dong et al., 2017).

# 2.7.4 Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA254)

Specific ultraviolet absorbance (SUVA<sub>254</sub>) is one of the most commonly used indices in freshwater studies (Cory et al., 2011), and is calculated as the absorbance of the water sample at 254nm divided by the DOC concentration in (mg/L), reported in units of L/mg-M (Coble et al., 2014). SUVA has a strong, positive correlation with aromatic carbon content, making it a

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Singh; McMaster University - School of Geography and Earth Sciences

reliable proxy (Cory et al., 2011; Weishaar et al., 2003). Typical SUVA<sub>254</sub> values range from 1-6 L/mg-M (Cory et al., 2011; Hansen et al., 2016), however higher values have been reported in the literature observed in interstitial waters (Jaffé et al., 2008). Typically, SUVA<sub>254</sub> values greater than 6 L/mg-M indicate there may be interference at the absorbance of 254 nm with dissolved iron species (Cory et al., 2011; Hansen et al., 2016; Poulin et al., 2014; Weishaar et al., 2003). The typical surface water concentration range of ferric iron (Fe <sup>3+</sup>) is 0-0.5 mg/L, which adds 0-0.04 cm<sup>-1</sup> absorbance to samples at 254 nm, therefore not interfering with SUVA measurements (Cory et al., 2011; Weishaar et al., 2003). However, with waters displaying iron levels greater than this, there may be some interference with iron species.

# 2.7.5 E2/E3

The E2/E3 ratio is negatively correlated with DOM molecular weight (Ågren et al., 2008; Helms et al., 2008; Peuravuori and Pihlaja, 1997; Wong and Williams, 2010). The ratio is calculated as the absorbance of 250 nm to absorbance at 365 nm (Peuravuori and Pihlaja, 1997). Previous studies have determined that the E2/E3 ratio increases with photolysis as the process breaks down larger components of DOM, decreasing its molecular weight (Dalzell et al., 2009; Moran and Covert, 2003).

### 2.8 Stable Isotopes of Water

Stable isotopes of water (<sup>18</sup>O and <sup>2</sup>H) are used as conservative tracers to determine sources of water and provide insight into the movement of water throughout the hydrological cycle (Clark and Fritz, 1997). Variation of isotopic composition occurs as a result of isotopic fractionation, where lighter isotopes preferentially evaporate leading to enrichment of the heavier isotope in the remaining water, and as a result of mixing of waters with varying isotopic composition (Hoefs, 2009). These variations in isotopic composition are temperature-dependent, resulting in seasonal shifts of isotopic composition with isotopically heavy summer rain, and lighter snow during the winter (Dansgaard, 1964).

On a global scale Craig (1961) developed a global meteoric water line (GMWL) based on  $\delta^{18}$ O and  $\delta^{2}$ H values of precipitation samples across the world. This relationship yields the equation  $\delta^{2}$ H = 8.0( $\delta^{18}$ O) + 10‰ with an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.95, suggesting that  $\delta^{18}$ O and  $\delta^{2}$ H are highly correlated. On a local scale, local meteoric water lines (LMWL) are similarly developed using precipitation samples with slopes of the equation ranging from 5 to 9 (Kendall, 2004). In the Great Lakes region, the local meteoric water line yields the equation  $\delta^{2}$ H = 7.18 ( $\delta^{18}$ O) + 1‰ (Longstaffe et al., 2013). Generally, precipitation and groundwater samples plot along the MWL. However, waters that have undergone evaporation plot below the LMWL along a local evaporation line (LEL) with a slope less than that of the LMWL, typically within the range of 4 to 6 (Gibson et al., 1993). The intersection of annual precipitation of the catchment (Gibson et al., 1993).

# CHAPTER 3: SITE DESCRIPTION, MATERIALS, METHODS 3.1 Study Area

The Great Lakes catchment of interest for this study is the Spencer Creek watershed in Hamilton, ON which connects into Hamilton Harbour, and drains into Lake Ontario (Figure 3.1). The study area is 159 km<sup>2</sup>, and encompasses the Fletcher Creek, Upper Spencer Creek, Flamborough Creek, Westover Creek, West Spencer Creek, Middle Spencer Creek, Logie's Creek, Borer's Creek, Sydenham Creek, and Lower Spencer Creek subwatersheds which are mandated under Ontario Regulation 161/06, and fall into the boundaries of the Hamilton Regional Conservation Authority.

## 3.1.1 Geology of the Spencer Creek Watershed

The Spencer Creek Watershed consists of middle and lower Silurian and upper Ordovician sediments such as limestone, siltstone, shale, and dolostone (Ontario Geologic Survey, 1991). The landscape is characterized by processes that occurred during the Wisconsinan glaciation, as quaternary sediments and glacial deposits overly the regional geology, providing ideal conditions for agriculture such as thick nutrient rich soils (Government of Ontario, 2016).

The Niagara Escarpment is a dominant geological feature in the watershed that faces east with the elevation of its crest rising above the town of Dundas (Karrow, 1959). The escarpment is developed on Silurian-aged dolomite, with the area below the escarpment representing the red Queenston shale (Upper Ordovician age), and the bedrock surface above the escarpment is composed of the grey Lockport dolomite (Middle Silurian age) (Karrow, 1959). The escarpment itself is as high as 30.5 m and is composed of dolomite. The Westover Drumlin Field located

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Singh; McMaster University - School of Geography and Earth Sciences

near Safari Rd at Westover (43° 21' 48.7074 N, 80° 3' 14.4714W") is another prominent geological feature in the watershed. The drumlins are composed of Pleistocene deposits of glacial, glaciofluvial, and glaciolacustrine sediments of the Wentworth Till (Karrow, 1959).

The region has medium to small-scale drift thickness, with most of the watershed representing dolomite with less than 7.6 m of drift (Ontario Geological Survey, 1969). Deeper drift in the watershed occurs in buried valleys, moraines, and drumlins, and these values reach as high as 39 m (Karrow, 1959).

### 3.1.2 Hydrology of the Spencer Creek Watershed

The headwaters of Spencer Creek are located in Galt Moraine in Puslinch Township, Ontario (Duval et al., 2009). The flow of water is oriented at a southeast direction and moves down from areas with higher elevations to lower elevations moving through Cootes Paradise, Hamilton Harbour, and ultimately into the west end of Lake Ontario. The Spencer Creek is a 6<sup>th</sup> order stream, and its watercourse is sustained by a network of smaller tributaries and streams flowing into the main stream (Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2009). There are several factors affecting the hydrological conditions within the Spencer Creek watershed. The hydrology varies seasonally due to the humid continental climate within Hamilton, ON with cold winters and hot summers (Woo and Valverde, 1986). Beverly Swamp, located in the northern region of the watershed (43° 220 N, 80 °070 W), plays a role influencing regional hydrology as it reduces flooding during high flow events, and recharges groundwater during periods of low flow (Woo and Valverde, 1986). There are two large reservoirs within the watershed altering the natural regime to avert downstream flooding and for recreational purposes: Valens Reservoir and Christie Dam and Reservoir (Sultana, 2009). Valens Reservoir was constructed in 1966 to prevent downstream flooding and for low flow augmentation (Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2012a). The reservoir is 0.76 km<sup>2</sup>, receives drainage water from a 10.9 km<sup>2</sup> area, and has a maximum depth of 4.6 m. Flow in the reservoir is retained during spring and augmented during the summer during times of low flow and the rest is released in autumn (Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2012a). The Christie Dam was constructed by the Hamilton Conservation Authority in 1971 as a flood control structure for the town of Dundas. (Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2012a). There are additionally smaller, privately managed reservoirs in the watershed such as the one located at LaFarge Quarry in Dundas, which influence stream hydrology as a result of storing and releasing water.

# 3.1.3 Land Use of the Spencer Creek Watershed

The heterogeneity of land use within the Spencer Creek Watershed contributes to its complexity as a watershed. A land use analysis on ArcGIS was performed merging the Southern Ontario Land Use Information System 2.0 (2016) layer and the Agriculture Canada Annual Crop Inventory (2016) layer. The analysis determined that Spencer Creek is 49% agriculture, 21% wetland, 11% forest, 8% urban, 2% extraction, 1% open water, and 10% undefined (Figure 3.2). Site specific land use statistics are summarized in Table 3.1.

#### **3.2 Materials and Field Methods**

## 3.2.1 Site Identification

The sites selected in this study are distributed across smaller tributaries and stream networks that merge into the main Spencer Creek. In 2016, initially 24 potential sampling sites were identified through Arc GIS 10.2.2 using the Ontario Integrated Hydrology Enhanced

Watercourse layer (2012) and the Ontario Road Network Segment with Address (2010). Intersections of the road and stream networks were identified to confine potential sample sites to those accessible by road. The sites were further narrowed down based on areas of interest within different land use types such as sites in wetland, agricultural, and urban dominated regions. Other areas of interest included where streams transitioned from one land use type to another, or where streams of different land use types merged. The three Water Survey of Canada sites in the watershed were also incorporated into the study (WSC stations 2HB007, 2HB023, 2HB015). The 24 potential sites were all initially visited to assess their viability as research sites. Overall, the sites were narrowed down to a final total of 16 sampling sites within the watershed in 2016. Sites that displayed weak stage-discharge relationships in 2016 were removed in 2017, and replaced in order to incorporate reservoirs into the study, more agricultural locations, and to obtain reliable stream-discharge relationships. Therefore, the sites attenuated down to 14 sites in 2017, and remained consistent into 2018. Overall, 9 sites overlap between the 2016-2018 field seasons, which are the main focus of this study (Figure 3.1) (Table 3.1). Almost all sites in this study are along the main Spencer Creek, except for Gore 2 (a tributary of Fletchers Creek) and Harvest (a tributary of Sydenham Creek). Waters draining from Gore 2 later merge with the main Spencer Creek upstream of the Safari site, and Harvest merges with the main Spencer Creek upstream of Dundas (the outlet).

#### 3.2.2 Hydrometric Measurements

Stilling wells were installed at the sampling sites to measure continuous stage. Wells were constructed from 1 m PVC pipes with drilled holes, and with nylon coverings to prevent potential clogging of the well. Solinist Leveloggers (pressure transducers) were placed into the stilling wells to measure water level, conductivity (at select sites), and water temperature. The

Leveloggers were calibrated with 1413 µs/cm calibration solution prior to installation, and were programmed to record measurements every 15 minutes during each field season. Corresponding Solinst Barrologgers were installed at a site upstream (Gore 2) and downstream (Con4WE), recording measurements every 15 minutes, to be later compensated. The stilling wells were hammered down at the selected sampling sites, with the Leveloggers placed at an ideal sampling depth. A metal ruler was also clamped to the well for manual measurements of water level. A Sontek FlowTracker was used to measure manual discharge at all 9 sites, with the exception of Gore 3 and Crooks in 2016 as loggers were not installed at these two sites until 2017. Low flow and high flow measurements were taken approximately 10 times a year to develop yearly rating curves for each site.

#### 3.2.3 Water Sampling

Over 2016-2018, water sampling occurred during the summer months on a biweeklyweekly basis. The field season spanned June-August in 2016, May-November in 2017, and March-October in 2018. A YSI probe was used measure water temperature, conductivity, and pH. Surface water samples were collected for DOC, fDOM, alkalinity, and isotope measurements. In collecting the water samples for DOC, FDOM and alkalinity, a 150 mL plastic syringe was used to collect surface water in a pooled area, with a 0.45 µm polyethersulfone filter placed on the tip of the syringe afterwards. The bottles were environmentalised three times with the filtered stream water prior to filling them up. Once collected, bottles were stored in a refrigerator for future analysis. Isotope samples were directly collected in the stream after environmentalising the bottles three times, ensuring there was no headspace in the bottle for potential evaporation to occur, and were stored at room temperature in the laboratory. DOC and alkalinity samples were collected in 30 mL amber HPE bottles, fDOM samples were collected in 40 mL glass amber bottles, and lastly isotope samples were collected into to 20 mL scintillation vials. A total of 233 surface water samples were collected in 2016, 130 in 2017, and 300 in 2018, for each bottle type (DOC, fDOM, alkalinity, and stable isotopes of water). Precipitation isotopes were collected at the site Valens and near McMaster University using an IAEA style sampler for rain (Gröning et al., 2012) and select snow samples were melted for analysis to construct a local isotopic meteoric water line. In total, there were 117 precipitation samples taken (113 rain, 4 snow).

DOC samples were analysed by The Biogeochemical Analytical Service Laboratory at the University of Alberta. DOC concentrations were determined using a Shimadzu 5000 TOC analyser. Concentrations were reported back in units of mg/L. Stable isotope ratios for hydrogen and oxygen were determined using a Los Gatos Research DTL-100 Water Isotope Analyzer at the University of Toronto. Data was reported back as  $\delta^{2}H$  (‰) and  $\delta^{18}O$  (‰). The Biogeochemistry Laboratory at the University of Waterloo analysed alkalinity samples. Concentrations were reported back in units of g/L of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>.

#### 3.2.4 Fluorescence Spectroscopy Analysis

The Horiba-Jobin Yvon Aqualog Machine (Aqualog), was used to analyse fluorescence dissolved organic carbon (fDOM) samples using a procedure adapted from Rastelli (2016). Surface water samples were stored in a refrigerator to prior to run, and were then pipetted into quartz cuvettes that were bathed in a 50% nitric acid solution for at least 24 hours prior to use. In order to compare changes in fluorescence parameters, instrumental inefficiences and variablities were accounted for through intrumental calibrartion of Quinine Sulfate (QS), Raman Signal (RS), and corrections for Rayleigh Scattering, and inner filter effects (IFE). QS and RS standards were run prior to a sample run, as QS applies spectraction corrections in light source output

variation and records instrument drift across runs, and RS normalizes data for Raman Scattering, and determines the integration time normalization factors for 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, and 1 second.

Water samples were all ran at 5 nm increments at an excitation range of 240 to 600 nm, and an emission range of 212.5 nm to 621.38 nm at 3.27 nm increments. Raman Scattering, IFE, and Rayleigh Masking settings were set at 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> order, CCD gain settings were set to medium, and the sum of slit widths was set at 12. All samples were initially run at an integration time of 0.1s to determine if absorbance values at 255 nm were in the correct range and to establish whether samples might need to be diluted. Samples with an absorbance value greater 1.5 were diluted to achieve sample counts in the range of 20,000-45,0000, where values closer to the upper range were ideal. After each run, individual EEMs for each run were visually checked for irregularities. IFE and Rayleigh scattering were corrected for during sample runs and post processing steps. The absorbance and emission data files from each successful run were then imported into RStudio to be processed and analysed.

#### 3.2.4.1 Fluorescence Indices

Characterizing and the sourcing of DOC were dependent on excitation and emission datasets obtained from the EEM of each sample. The five indices used to interpret DOC were: the fluorescence index (FI), freshness index ( $\beta/\alpha$ ), humification index (HIX), SUVA<sub>254</sub>, and E2/E3 (Table 2.1). These indices were calculated within R Studio using a modified code provided by Dr. Claire Oswald of Ryerson University.

The fluorescence index (Cory and McKnight, 2005) is calculated as the ratio of emission at 450 nm/500 nm at an excitation of 370 nm. The freshness index (Wilson and Xenopoulos, 2009) is calculated at an of excitation 310 nm, and is the ratio ( $\beta / \alpha$ ) where  $\beta$  is the emission intensity at

380nm, and  $\alpha$  is the maximum emission intensity between 420 nm and 435 nm. The humification index (Ohno, 2002) is calculated as the area of peak under an emission of 435 nm to 480 nm divided by the peak area under emission 300 nm to 345 nm at an excitation of 254 nm. However, with the Aqualog settings, an excitation of 255 was used. SUVA<sub>254</sub> (Karanfil et al., 2002) is calculated as the ratio of UV absorbance at 254 nm to the DOC concentration in mg/L. E2/E3 (Peuravuori and Pihlaja, 1997) is calculated as the ratio between absorbance at 250 nm to absorbance at 365 nm.

#### 3.3 Data and Statistical Analysis

#### 3.3.1 Statistical Tests

Data processing, QA/QC procedures, and statistical analyses were undertaken in MATLAB R2018a and R language for statistical computing (R Core Team, 2018). Prior to analysis, all variables were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilks test using the R function shapiro.wilk. The Spearman rho correlation test (non-parametric) was used to determine signifcant correlations among land use cover and DOC and indices data using the cor.test function. A non-parametric statistical approach was also taken to determine significant differences in the mean ranks of all DOC and indices data. First, the Kruskal-Wallis test (kruskal.test in R) was used to determine significant differences in mean ranks for DOC and indices data between all 9 sites, and over the three years of the study period. The Dunn's Test of Multiple Comparisons (non-parametric) was used as a post-hoc to indentify which groups were significantly different. A 95% confidence interval ( $p \le 0.05$ ) was used to determine significance for all tests. Due to differences in the timing of field seasons (June-August in 2016, May-November in 2017, and March-October in 2018), data from only the overlapping months of the

study period (June-August) for each year were considered for all statistical tests to determine significant differences between years. However, all boxplots and scatter plots of the data consider all data points collected from each field season, regardless of the month the data was collected. Results from all statistical tests are included in the Appendix.

# 3.3.2 Concentration-Discharge Analysis

The relationship between concentration-discharge is often described by a power-law relationship between concentration C, and discharge Q, where the equation describing the relationship is the following,

$$C = aQ^b \tag{1}$$

where *a* is a constant representing the intercept, and *b* is a constant representing the slope of the equation on a logarthicmic axis (Godsey et al., 2009). Using this equation, concentrationdischarge relationships within the Spencer Creek Watershed were assessed on a spatial scale. A slope of zero indicates that a catchment behaves chemostatically (an increase in discharge has no effect on chemistry), a slope of -1 indicates that the catchment is diluting solutes whereas a slope of 1 indicates that a catchment is mobilizing solutes. Slopes that are significantly different from zero suggest that catchments do not behave chemostatically (Godsey et al., 2009). Slopes were tested for significance differences (from zero) using an F test with a 95% confidence interval ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

# 3.3.3 Principle Component Analysis

A principle component analysis (PCA) using 262 samples from 2016-2018 was completed in R studio using the prcomp () function, to asess the relationship between landscape controls on DOC concentrations and indices data. The fluoresence index (FI) was ommitted from the PCA to

minimize bias, as the fluorescence index and freshness index are highly correlated variables. All variables loaded into the PCA were centered (means were subtracted), and scaled (divided by standard deviations) to standardize the variables. Principle components 1 and 2 (PC1 and PC2) were selected for analysis based off a screeplot. The remaining principle components were not explored as there were only 5 variables loaded, and the PC1 and PC2 explained 79.1% of the variation in the dataset. PC1 was further explored and correlated to other variables using the Spearman rho correlation test for categorical data, and the Pearson correlation test for continous data.

### 3.3.4 Landscape Analysis

Sites were grouped into 4 landscape units based off of site characteristics: headwater sites (Gore 2 and Gore 3), reservoir-influenced sites which are downstream of Valens, Christie, and Lafarge Quarry reservoir (Valens, Crooks, and Harvest), mid-catchment sites that are located in the middle of the catchment (Safari, Valens, Harvest), and the catchment-outlet site (Dundas).

# 3.3.5 Stable Isotope Analysis

Stable isotopes of water ,  $\delta^{18}$ O and  $\delta^{2}$ H, were analysed for the purpose of determining sources of water. A local meteoric water line (LMWL) was established through plotting a regression line through 117 precipitation and snow samples of  $\delta^{-18}$ O and  $\delta^{-2}$ H (‰). A local evaporation line (LEL) was established through plotting a regression line through 284 surface water samples of  $\delta^{-18}$ O and  $\delta^{-2}$ H (‰) as the slope of the regression line represents the slope of the LEL. All surface water samples for  $\delta^{-18}$ O and  $\delta^{-2}$ H (‰) were plotted against the LMWL and LEL.

# **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

#### 4.1 Climate

Results from this study include data collected during summer and fall months. Over 2016-2018, total annual precipitation recorded at the Hamilton RBG Weather Station (43.28 N, 79.88 W) was greatest in 2017 (887 mm), followed by 2018 (797 mm), and 2016 (717 mm), with 2016 falling below the 30-year climate normal of 780 mm (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2019). For the months spanning the field season (March-November), total precipitation was once again greatest in 2017 (746 mm), followed by 2018 (626 mm), and lowest in 2016 (524 mm) (Figure 4.1). Conditions were extremely dry in 2016, such that rainfall in August 2016 (96 mm) accounted for 44% of the total precipitation over the summer months alone. Mean air temperatures over the field season were 13 °C, 14 °C, 12 °C respectively with 2016 averaged at the climate normal (13 °C), whereas 2017 was slightly warmer and 2018 was slightly below.

#### 4.2 Hydrology

# 4.2.1 Discharge and Total Runoff

To establish terminology, discharge is the volumetric outflow of water and describes how much water flows through a cross sectional area in a given time, with units typically expressed in  $m^3/s$ . Runoff represents the total amount of water leaving a region normalized per unit area, and is typically expressed in units of length such as mm (Dingman, 1994).

In 2016, weather conditions were extremely dry during the field season, and resultantly discharge was lowest in 2016 across all sites (Figure 4.2). The continuous lack of rainfall and warm weather resulted in two of mid-catchment sites (Con4WE and HWY5) drying up late

summer, until a 60 mm storm event had replenished the streams. In 2017 and 2018, discharge values were overall higher and comparable between the years, except at Crooks where the 2017 hydrograph has a lower magnitude with almost no variation in flow. Total runoff values followed a similar pattern as values were lower in the dry year (2016) compared to 2017 and 2018 (Figure 4.3). For instance, at the outlet of the watershed, Dundas, there was a total of 16 mm of runoff during June to October in 2016, whereas in 2017 and 2018, the total runoff for the same time period were respectively 60 mm and 43 mm.

Hydrographs and total monthly runoff plots over the study period at most sites had typical seasonal patterns of flow across the watershed (Figure 4.2, 4.3). Discharge values were highest at all sites during spring months, when total rainfall contributions were highest and soils were presumed wet from winter snowmelt. During the spring months captured in 2017 and 2018, values were as high as 20 m<sup>3</sup>/s at the outlet in Dundas. Peaks in discharge were observed during summer storm events, exhibiting a response to precipitation occurring during summer to early fall. These events were particularly notable in 2016, as summer conditions were prior to the storm events in August. During the summer months, discharge and runoff were considerably lower at most sites excluding the headwater sites and Harvest.

The magnitude of flow and hydrograph shape were variable across all sites due to watershed characteristics and contributing area. The sites Safari, HWY5, Crooks, and Dundas all had larger contributing areas with the greatest range of discharge values, with maximum discharge values of 4.0 m<sup>3</sup>/s, 12 m<sup>3</sup>/s, 16 m<sup>3</sup>/s, and 20 m<sup>3</sup>/s respectively. The headwater sites, Gore 2 and Gore 3, had the smallest range of discharge values with a maximum discharge of 0.175 m<sup>3</sup>/s and 0.1 m<sup>3</sup>/s
respectively throughout the study period. The headwater sites additionally had higher runoff per unit area values. During the dry conditions of 2016, Gore 2 sustained its flow compared to the other 8 sites and had the highest total runoff for the study season from June to October (118 mm) which is 7 times higher than the runoff per unit area at the outlet. At the headwater sites, differences between total runoff during a dry and wet year did not vary as greatly compared to sites downstream. For example, total runoff at Gore 2 during the summer months (June to August) in 2016 was 76 mm, compared to 186 mm and 88 mm in the following two years respectively. The difference between runoff per unit area in during a dry year (2016) a wet year (2017) at Gore 2 represents a 145% increase, whereas a 380% increase in total runoff was observed at Dundas for the same time period and years.

Sites downstream of reservoirs (Valens and Crooks) and downstream of a quarry's reservoir (Harvest) had "flashier" hydrographs with pulses indicating when water was released and stored. In 2017, when flows were high, it is apparent that flow was heavily regulated upstream of Harvest and Crooks, as the hydrographs lack variability that a natural flow regime would exhibit.

# **4.3 Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC)**

#### 4.3.1 Temporal and Spatial DOC Patterns

DOC patterns were spatially and temporally dynamic as concentrations (mg/L) were variable among sampling sites, annually, and seasonally. DOC concentrations ranged between 1.0- 39.3 mg/L over the study period (Figure 4.4), (Table 4.1). In 2016, DOC concentrations were relatively low where all sites averaged at  $6.2 \pm 3.7$  mg/L, with a maximum concentration of 17 mg/L. In 2017 and 2018, DOC increased across all sites to averages of  $12.3 \pm 9.6$  mg/L and

9.2 + 5.9 mg/L respectively, with concentrations reaching maximums double those observed in 2016 (39.1 mg/L in 2017, and 39.3 mg/L in 2018). DOC concentrations in 2016 were significantly lower than those in 2017 and 2018 across all sites except HWY5 (p<0.05) whereas 2017 and 2018 concentrations were comparable and not significantly different (Table 4.2). DOC concentrations varied spatially across the river continuum in the watershed. The headwaters (Gore 2 and Gore 3) exhibited the some of the lowest DOC concentrations, with values averaging at  $5.0 \pm 6.9$  mg/L and  $3.1 \pm 1.9$  mg/L respectively for each site, over the three-year study period (Table 4.3). Moving downstream of the headwaters, concentrations gradually increased from Valens to HWY5, with the highest DOC concentrations at Safari, Con4WE, and HWY5 (all mid-watershed) with concentrations over the three years averaging  $11.6 \pm 5.2$  mg/L,  $13.4 \pm 7.2$  mg/L, and  $12.6 \pm 5.2$  mg/L respectively. Crooks, which is downstream of Christie reservoir and the mid-catchment sites, had a similar three-year average of DOC concentrations averaging at  $12.2 \pm 6.5$  mg/L. Water discharging from Crooks towards Dundas is joined with waters discharging from Harvest, a tributary that runs through Lafarge Quarry and that connects to the main Spencer Creek. Harvest had relatively low DOC concentrations comparable to those of the headwater sites with concentrations over the three years averaging at 5.3 + 5.3 mg/L. At the outlet of the watershed, Dundas, DOC concentrations averaged at 8.7 + 6.6 mg/L, exhibiting intermediate DOC concentrations compared to the headwater and mid-catchment sites. Across land use types. DOC concentrations were found to be positively correlated to percent wetland cover in the study area (Figure 4.5) (Table 4.4) (p < 0.05), whereas the correlations between DOC and percent agriculture and urban were negative (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.6, 4.7).

Seasonal patterns in DOC concentration were relatively weak in 2016, as variability in concentrations were low (Figure 4.8). Prominent peaks in DOC concentration during 2016 were in response to rain events that occurred. In 2017 and 2018, there were no apparent peaks in DOC concentration immediately following individual rain events. However, DOC concentrations gradually increased at the end of summer to early fall and exhibited some peaks during the period (August-November) (Figure 4.8).

# 4.3.2 DOC Concentration-Discharge

The slopes of the concentration-discharge relationships were used to assess whether catchments were behaving chemostatically (slope of zero), diluting (negative slope significantly different from zero), or were mobilizing chemicals (positive slope significantly different from zero) (Godsey et al., 2009). The relationship between DOC concentration and discharge varied spatially throughout Spencer Creek (Figure 4.9). On a watershed scale, there was general increasing trend between log DOC concentration and log discharge, with a positive slope of 0.16 and an  $R^2$  value of 0.15 (p < 0.05) indicating a weakly explained power relationship (Figure 4.10). Spatially, slopes varied from site to-site, exhibiting both positive and negative slopes. At the headwaters, Gore 2 (tributary of Fletcher's Creek) had the greatest slope among all sites (0.57) (p<0.05), whereas Gore 3 had a slightly negative slope (slope of -0.07) that was not significant. Moving downstream, slopes gradually increased from 0.07 to 0.08 across Valens, Safari (p<0.05), Con4WE (p<0.05), until HWY5, where slopes became negative (-0.03, not significant). Downstream of HWY5, Crooks also had a negative slope (-0.09, not significant), whereas the Harvest's tributary had a positive, not significant slope of 0.11. Waters leaving Crooks and Harvest merge and discharge at Dundas, where a positive slope of 0.18 was exhibited (p<0.05). Overall, slopes of log DOC concentration- log discharge were significantly

different from zero (p<0.05) at 4 of the 9 study sites including Gore 2, Safari, Con4WE, and Dundas (Table 4.5).

#### 4.4 DOC Quality

#### 4.4.1 Fluorescence Index (FI)

Over the three-year study period, FI ranged from 1.44 - 1.72 and averaged at  $1.54 \pm 0.05$ (Figure 4.11) (Table 4.3). FI values showed little change between the two wet years (2017 and 2018) at each sampling site. However, in the dry year of 2016, FI was both higher and lower compared to 2017 and 2018 values. Overall, FI values at each site showed little variability over study period as Safari and Crooks were the only sites to exhibit significant differences over the three years (p<0.05) (Table 4.2). However, there was strong spatial variability of FI among land use types and sampling sites. FI had a positive correlation with increasing percent agriculture and percent urban land cover (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.6, 4.7), whereas a negative correlation was observed with increasing % wetland cover (Figure 4.5) (Table 4.4). Along the Spencer Creek watercourse, the headwaters sites had differing FI values as Gore 2 had relatively lower FI values compared to Gore 3, with three-year averages of  $1.54 \pm 0.03$  and  $1.58 \pm 0.04$  respectively. FI decreased downstream of the headwater sites reaching the lowest three-year averaged values at the midcatchment sites (Safari, Con4WE, and HWY5), with averages of  $1.48 \pm 0.02$ ,  $1.51 \pm 0.02$ , and  $1.53 \pm 0.03$  respectively over the three years. Further downstream, FI gradually increased until Crooks  $(1.53 \pm 0.02)$ , until a sudden increase in FI was observed from the waters of Harvest's contributing tributary, as the highest values of FI in the watershed (1.65  $\pm$  0.04) were at this site. At the outlet, intermediate FI values were observed similar to those at Gore 2 and HWY5 (1.55  $\pm$ 0.02).

# 4.4.2 Freshness Index $(\beta/\alpha)$

 $\beta/\alpha$  ranged from 0.51- 0.87 with an average value of 0.64 ± 0.07 over the 3 years (Figure 4.12) (Table 4.3), and had similar spatial trends compared to FI. Temporally,  $\beta/\alpha$  in 2016 was significantly higher (p < 0.05) compared to both 2017 and 2018, at all sites expect Gore 2 (Table 4.2). Similar to FI,  $\beta/\alpha$  showed little variability between the two wet years (2017 and 2018) at each sampling site, as these years were statistically from the same group. Spatial variation of  $\beta/\alpha$  mimicked FI variability, as the patterns across the Spencer Creek watercourse were similar, and as highest and lowest  $\beta/\alpha$  occurred at the same sites that had the highest and lowest values for FI. Harvest had the highest  $\beta/\alpha$ , with an average of 0.75 ± 0.06 and the lowest  $\beta/\alpha$  values were at Safari, Con4WE, and HWY5 with averages of 0.56 ± 0.02, 0.58 ± 0.03, and 0.61 ± 0.04 respectively. Across land use types,  $\beta/\alpha$  was negatively correlated with increasing percent wetland cover (p<0.05) (Figure 4.5) whereas a positive correlation was observed with increasing percent agriculture and urban cover (p<0.05) (Figure 4.6) (Figure 4.7).

#### 4.4.3 Humification Index (HIX)

HIX varied both temporally and spatially over the study period, with values that ranged from 0.63- 0.95 with an average value of  $0.88 \pm 0.05$  (Figure 4.13) (Table 4.3). Similar to both  $\beta/\alpha$ , HIX exhibited strong temporal trends as HIX in 2016 was significantly lower (p < 0.05) in the dry year (2016) compared to the wet years (2017 and 2018) at all sites except for Gore 2 and Gore 3, the two headwater sites (Table 4.2). Over the two wet years, there was little variation in HIX, similar to results observed with  $\beta/\alpha$  and FI as these two years were statistically from the same group (Table 4.2).

Across land use types, HIX was positively correlated with increasing percent wetland cover (Figure 4.5) (Table 4.4), whereas increasing percent agriculture exhibited a negative correlation (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.6). Across landscape units, the opposite spatial trend was observed for HIX compared to  $\beta/\alpha$  and FI. At the headwaters of the Spencer Creek watershed, HIX values at Gore 2 were lower than Gore 3, as the three-year averages were  $0.89 \pm 0.05$  and  $0.91 \pm 0.03$ respectively. A decrease in HIX was observed downstream of Valens Reservoir at Valens (0.84  $\pm$ 0.03). Moving further down the watercourse, HIX increased across mid-catchment sites, with the highest values observed across the watershed at Safari, Con4WE, and HWY5 with averages of  $0.93 \pm 0.01$ ,  $0.93 \pm 0.02$ , and  $0.92 \pm 0.02$  over 2016-2018 respectively. These mid-catchment sites had similar enough HIX values that they exhibited no significant differences from another spatially (Table A4). A slight decrease of HIX was observed downstream of the mid-catchment sites at Crooks, with values over the three years averaging at  $0.91 \pm 0.02$ . However, further along the watercourse, Harvest had the largest decline in HIX, with values averaging at  $0.85 \pm$ 0.06 which are similar to those of Valens. At the outlet, Dundas, the three-year HIX average  $(0.91 \pm 0.02)$  was intermediate in magnitude compared to the other sites.

# 4.4.4 Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA254)

SUVA<sub>254</sub> ranged from 0.17- 5.74 L/mg-M with an average of  $2.98 \pm 1.05$  L/mg-M over the study period (Figure 4.14) (Table 4.3). Similar to results of FI, SUVA<sub>254</sub> had strong spatial variation among land use types and sampling sites. However, annual variability of SUVA<sub>254</sub> between dry and wet years was weak, as there were no temporal significant differences found for SUVA<sub>254</sub> across sites over the study period, except at Gore 2 between 2016 and 2018 values (p<0.05). SUVA<sub>254</sub> was found to be positively correlated with increasing percent wetland cover (p <0.05) (Figure 4.5) (Table 4.4), and negatively correlated with increasing percent agriculture cover (p<0.05) (Figure 4.6). Additionally, spatial variation of SUVA<sub>254</sub> across the Spencer Creek watercourse mirrored patterns seen with HIX, as highest and lowest SUVA<sub>254</sub> averages were observed at the same sites where highs and lows were observed for HIX. Similar to HIX, the headwater sites had variability between SUVA<sub>254</sub> with lower three-year averages exhibited at Gore 2 compared to Gore 3 ( $3.02 \pm 2.05$  L/mg-M and  $2.77 \pm 1.15$  L/mg-M respectively). The highest values were observed mid-catchment at Safari, Con4WE, and HWY5 with averages of  $3.78 \pm 0.77$  L/mg-M,  $3.87 \pm 0.80$  L/mg-M, and  $3.57 \pm 0.74$  L/mg-M over 2016-2018 respectively. Harvest and Valens had the lowest SUVA<sub>254</sub> values with averages of  $2.10 \pm 0.94$  L/mg-M, and  $2.25 \pm 0.75$  L/mg-M respectively. Similar to the spatial trends of the other indices, the outlet had intermediate SUVA<sub>254</sub> values compared to the other sites, with a three-year average of  $2.89 \pm 0.79$  L/mg-M.

#### 4.4.5 E2/E3

E2/E3 had prominent temporal and spatial trends over the study period, with values that ranged from 2.49 –13.41 with an average value of 6.03 ± 1.13 over the three years (Figure 4.15) (Table 4.3). During the two wet years (2017 and 2018), E2/E3 exhibited similar values within each sampling site, showing very little variation in values, similar to trends seen with FI,  $\beta/\alpha$ , and HIX. However, during the dry year in 2016, E2/E3 showed both an increase and decrease in E2/E3 compared to the two wet years.

Spatial variations of E2/E3 were similar to those observed with FI and  $\beta/\alpha$  across the watershed. At the headwaters, average E2/E3 over the study period was lower at Gore 2 (5.05 ± 0.65)

compared to Gore 3 (5.71  $\pm$  1.64). Moving downstream, E2/E3 values reached their highest across the watershed at Valens, with a three-year average of 7.34  $\pm$  0.58. Further along the watercourse, E2/E3 decreased past Valens and at Safari, Con4WE, and HWY5 with averages over the study of 5.31  $\pm$  0.16, 5.36  $\pm$  0.22, 5.65  $\pm$  0.33 respectively, where these sites were statistically similar. Past the mid-catchment sites, E2/E3 increased at Crooks (6.33 $\pm$  0.66) and Harvest (6.99  $\pm$  1.68), exhibiting some of the highest values across the watershed in addition to Valens. At the outlet of the watershed, E2/E3 averages over the study period were intermediate compared to the rest of the watershed (6.20  $\pm$  0.57). In terms of land use, E2/E3 was found to be negatively correlated with increasing percent wetland cover (p<0.05) (Figure 4.5) (Table 4.4), and to be positively correlated with increasing percent agriculture and urban cover (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.6, 4.7).

#### 4.5 Landscape and DOC Concentration and Quality

## 4.5.1 Principle Component Analysis and Landscape Variability

A principle component analysis (PCA) was used to assess the relationship between landscape controls on DOC concentrations and indices data (Figure 4.16). The fluoresence index (FI) was ommitted from the PCA to minimize bias, as the fluorescence index and freshness index are highly correlated variables. All variables loaded into the PCA were centered (means were subtracted), and scaled (divided by standard deviations) to standardize the variables.

The first principle component (PC1) explained 54.7% of the variation in the data set, and was highly correlated with all DOM indices (Figure 4.17) (Table 4.6). SUVA<sub>254</sub> and HIX had a positive correlation with PC1, whereas  $\beta/\alpha$ , and E2/E3 had negative correlations. DOC

concentration exhibited a weak positive correlation with PC1 (Figure 4.17). The second principle component (PC2), which explained 24.4% of the variation, had a strong negative correlation with DOC concentration, however it exhibited a weak correlation with the indices data (Figure 4.18) (Table 4.6). Further PCs were not explored as scree plots determined that PC1 and PC2 explained 79.1% of the variation in the data set, and only 5 variables were loaded.

Reservoir-influenced sites had a wide distribution on the biplot with the largest ellipse (Figure 4.16). The points plot across almost the entire PC1 axis, due to great variability in DOM quality. Mid-catchment points clustered furthest away from reservoir-influenced points, plotting to the right of the zero line with a tighter ellipse. Headwater and catchment-outlet sites clustered in similar regions on the biplot, with overlapping ellipses. Regression plots of PC1 and PC2 against DOC concentration and indices highlight the landscape variability observed in the Spencer Creek watershed (Figure 4.17, 4.18). DOC concentrations, SUVA<sub>254</sub>, and HIX plotted highest at mid-catchment sites, and lowest at reservoir- influenced sites. The opposite trend is observed for  $\beta/\alpha$ , and E2/E3, as these values plot lowest at mid-catchment sites, and highest at reservoir-influenced sites.

## 4.6 Source Waters from Stable Isotopes Analysis

Stable isotopes of water samples from all sampling sites were plotted against a LMWL developed by plotting 117 samples of both snow and precipitation collected during the 2016-2018 study period (Figure 4.19). The equation of the LMWL for the Spencer Creek watershed was  $\delta^2 H = 7.9 (\delta^{18} O) + 12.8\% (R^2 = 0.98)$ . Compared to the global meteoric water line (GMWL) with the equation  $\delta^2 H = 8.0 (\delta^{18} O) + 10\%$ , the slopes of the LMWL is comparable, however the

deuterium-excess (intercept) varies (Craig, 1961). Additionally, a local evaporation line (LEL) was developed by plotting a regression line through 284 surface water samples, and the equation was  $\delta^2 H = 4.0 (\delta^{18} O) - 24.5\%$  (R<sup>2</sup>= 0.84), with its slope falling into the range of 4-7 which is commonly reported (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998).

The headwater sites were most isotopically depleted and plotted along the LWML, with most samples plotting below the intersection of the LMWL and LEL (Figure 4.19). The isotopic signature for mid-catchment surface water samples were widely distributed had had the greatest isotopic enrichment, as these samples plotted closely along the LEL. Reservoir-influenced and catchment-outlet samples were isotopically similar, and plotted closer along the LEL. Overall, the isotopically depleted headwater sites corresponded with the lowest DOC concentration in the watershed, whereas the more isotopically enriched sites (mid-catchment, reservoir-influenced, and catchment-outlet) had greater DOC concentrations. Moving downstream in the watershed from the headwater sites to the catchment-outlet, increased evaporation was observed as waters became more isotopically enriched.

#### 4.7 Stream Temperature (°C)

Stream temperatures in 2016 and 2018 were generally higher at all sites compared to 2017 (Figure 4.20). Most sites in 2016 and 2018 (with the exception of Gore 2 and Gore 3), had warm stream temperatures with values ranging from 20 °C to 35 °C. In 2017, the same sites had temperatures with values ranging from 14 °C to 25 °C. Gore 2 and Gore 3 had low stream temperatures consistently over the 3 years. These sites had stream temperatures as low as 10.3 °C

to as high as 18.3 °C. The remaining sites display values that are consistently higher over the three-year study period.

# **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

Water quality impairment is a prominent issue in the Great Lakes region with an increasing need to protect, conserve, and restore the health of upstream tributaries and waters that drain into the Great Lakes. DOC plays an integral role in stream and river dynamics, as it affects a suite of processes that alter ecosystem health and can result in water quality degradation. It is important to understand the various factors that affect and control DOC in the Great Lakes, specifically in regions with strong human-influences in the watershed. Human-dominated landscapes have a range of consequences on DOC dynamics as catchment hydrology, plant cover, and nutrient inputs are altered in these environments. The objectives of this study were to identify the controls and drivers of DOC quantity and quality in the Spencer Creek watershed, which is the largest contributor of water to Cootes Paradise that ultimately drains into Lake Ontario. The 158 km<sup>2</sup> study area of the catchment is complex, as the present landscape is composed of a mosaic of various land uses including agriculture, forest, wetland, urban, and industrial regions. Flow alterations contribute to the complexity of the watershed as there are managed reservoirs and alterations in water courses. Overall, the findings from this research provide insight into the fate and transport of water and DOC in a complex, managed catchment in the Great Lakes region, with the aims of providing key information for local stakeholders.

The results of the 2016-2018 study period showed differences in flow magnitudes and stream DOC between dry and wet years, as well as substantial variation in DOC concentration and DOM quality across the Spencer Creek watershed. DOC concentrations were found to be the lowest at groundwater influenced sites in the headwaters of the watershed, and the highest in the mid-catchment region where DOM quality was strongly influenced by wetland sources. The

reservoir-influenced sites showed relatively intermediate concentrations of DOC with DOM quality that exhibited strong microbial signatures. At the outlet, DOC concentrations were attenuated and DOM quality was intermediate between allochthonous and autochthonous end members, reflecting upstream mixing processes. These processes are presented as a conceptual model of the Spencer Creek watershed during wet and dry conditions (Figure 5.1).

#### 5.1 Conceptual Model of Water and DOC Movement in the Spencer Creek Watershed

# 5.1.1 Drivers of Hydrological Variability

Identifying the drivers of hydrological variability in the study area is essential for developing a conceptual framework between regional hydrology and DOC transport. Flow in the Spencer Creek watershed varied on a temporal scale with changing hydrological conditions over the three-year study period including a dry year (2016) where annual precipitation fell below the 30-year climate normal for the region and two wet years (2017 and 2018) where precipitation exceeded the climate normal (Figure 4.1, 4.2). Flow also varied spatially among monitoring sites, as stream size increased moving from the headwaters to the outlet. Largely, the temporal and spatial patterns of runoff and flow revealed that precipitation is a major driver of flow variability in the mid-catchment region of the Spencer Creek watershed whereas the upper reaches of the watershed yield and generate more runoff per unit area at a more stable rate.

The headwater sites, Gore 2 and Gore 3, were strongly influenced by groundwater as the ability to sustain runoff during dry periods an indicator of groundwater contributions (Sear et al., 1999). Gore 2 yielded the greatest total runoff per unit area during the dry year (data not available for Gore 3) whereas sites downstream exhibited drought-like conditions during the prolonged dry

period when there was a lack of precipitation. Both Gore 2 and Gore 3 had little to no variation in total runoff per unit area from month to month (Figure 4.3), whereas most other sites (excluding Harvest's tributary which had heavily regulated flow) had strong seasonal patterns in runoff with lows in the summer and highs during spring and fall. There was additionally little change in annual runoff between the headwater sites during a dry year compared to two wet years, whereas substantial differences in runoff were observed for sites downstream between these varying hydrological conditions (Figure 4.3). This suggests that runoff was sustained by groundwater upwelling in the headwaters as a source, whereas runoff generation from sites downstream was more ephemeral in nature and dependent upon precipitation-driven processes to sustain flows.

Stream temperature results also indicate that the headwater sites are groundwater influenced (Figure 4.20). Over the three-year study period, Gore 2 and Gore 3 consistently had low stream temperatures, even during the warmest months of the summer. Stream temperatures at the headwaters sites never exceeded 20 °C whereas at the remaining sites, stream temperatures were generally greater than 20 °C. Isotopic data provided further insight into groundwater signatures using  $\delta^{18}$  O ‰ and  $\delta^{2}$ H ‰ data. The headwater sites consistently had lower  $\delta^{18}O - \delta^{2}$ H over the study period (Figure 4.19). Furthermore, the headwater samples cluster mostly below the point that the LMWL and LEL intersect, where this intersection represents the location of original un-evaporated composition of water (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998). As the stable isotopic composition of groundwater mirrors that of precipitation in recharge areas that connects to the water table (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998), and Gore 2 and Gore 3 plot along the LMWL whose line is derived from precipitation and snow samples, this suggests that Gore 2 and Gore 3

had a stronger precipitation-influenced signature due to groundwater upwelling. Isotopic data also reveals a trend of increased evaporation of waters moving downstream into the watershed, as samples plot below the LMWL and closer along the LEL, confirming a stronger surface water signature at these sites (Figure 4.19).

Resultantly, in the proposed conceptual model, the hydrogeochemical conditions experienced during the study period of the dry year (2016) are considered "dry conditions" whereas "wet conditions" represent hydrogeochemical conditions experienced during high flows as seen in 2017 and 2018. In this model, the headwater sites provide a constant source of water downstream in both wet and dry conditions, whereas precipitation controls flow variability from catchment areas downstream of the headwaters. Of course, Spencer Creek is also managed heavily at two sites, so the impact of human actions on flows is notable.

## 5.1.2 DOC Movement and Transfer During Wet and Dry Years

# 5.1.2.1 Proposed Transfer Mechanism of DOC during Wet and Dry Conditions

In the proposed conceptual model, DOC movement and transfer in the Spencer Creek watershed integrates the effects of hydrology, seasonality, and spatial variation in DOC concentrations (mg/L) observed over the study period. The concentrations of stream DOC measured in the Spencer Creek watershed (1.0- 39.3 mg/L, Figure 4.4) were similar to concentrations observed by Mulholland (1997) in streams across North America (0.1 - 36.6 mg/L). When hydrological conditions were dry in 2016, the lowest DOC concentrations were observed across the watershed. For the same months monitored in the following two years (June to August), concentrations were significantly higher across all sites except HWY5 (Table 4.2), displaying both higher and greater ranges of DOC concentrations. The watershed scale DOC

concentration-discharge relationship revealed a significant positive slope indicating there is mobilization of DOC with increasing flows (Figure 4.10) (Godsey et al., 2009). The proposed conceptual model of DOC movement and transfer in the Spencer Creek aligns with studies establishing hydrology as a driver of allochthonous DOC transport from landscape into stream (Ågren et al., 2007; Fasching et al., 2016; Laudon et al., 2011; Mulholland, 1997; Stanley et al., 2012; Tate and Meyer, 1983). In terrestrial environments such as those in forests and grasslands, a large pool of water-soluble DOM is present in the upper soil horizons, whereas, in lower soil horizons, sorption processes take place with iron and aluminum oxides ultimately immobilizing DOM (Kalbitz et al., 2000; McDowell and Wood, 1984; Mulholland, 1997). During low flow conditions, dominant flow paths occur in lower soil horizons which are mineral-rich and have lower DOC concentrations. As flow begins to increase and water tables rise due to precipitation or snowmelt, these flowpaths shift to organic-rich shallow subsurface or surface pathways, flushing large pools of DOM in upper soil horizons into streams (Laudon et al., 2011; Mulholland, 1997; Pacific et al., 2010). This shift from dry to wet conditions essentially rewets soils that store DOC during dry conditions, and increases the hydrological transfer of DOC into streams in the Spencer Creek watershed. Similar results have been found for sulphate dynamics in Beverly Swamp, in the Spencer Creek watershed (Warren et al., 2001).

As the Spencer Creek watershed is 49% agriculture, it is important to consider the relationship between hydrological DOC transfer in agriculture influenced watersheds. Previous studies in agricultural settings have yielded similar conclusions. Stedmon et al., (2006) determined that fundamental shifts in hydrologic flowpaths released DOC from soils in response to precipitation events in an agriculturally dominated region in Horsens, Denmark. Similarly, studies in the midwestern United states have reported increases in stream DOC concentrations in agricultural watersheds during storms due to shifts in DOC sources form mineral soil layers at baseflow to subsurface soil layers during storms (Dalzell et al., 2006; Vidon et al., 2008). While there is a lack of studies analysing DOC-flow dynamics in agricultural sites in Ontario, considerable research has determined increased concentrations of other nutrients that are often associated with high DOC such as soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>-) with peaks in discharge (King et al., 2015; Macrae et al., 2007; Williams et al., 2015). The majority of the soils in the Spencer Creek watershed are organic rich and sandy loams (Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2011), therefore this concept of shifts in flowpaths determined in grassland, forested, and agriculture landscapes applies to the conceptual model of DOC movement in the study area.

# 5.1.2.2 Effect of Wet and Dry Conditions on DOM Quality

Stream DOM quality was more allochthonous during the wet years (2017 and 2018) compared to the dry year (2016), as indicated by results from the freshness index ( $\beta/\alpha$ ) and the humification index (HIX) (Figure 4.12, 4.13) (Table 4.2). Both  $\beta/\alpha$  and the HIX had significant differences between wet and dry conditions, at all sites except the headwaters (Table 4.2). This is likely due to drier conditions resulting in shallower streams with higher stream temperatures, greater photodegradation, and limited transfer of terrestrial DOM into streams from a lack of rainfall. Previous studies indicate water temperature is a controlling factor on stream DOM as warmer temperatures increase microbial activity and influence DOM mobilization (Kalbitz et al., 2000; Winterdahl et al., 2016). The warm temperatures and shallow, slow moving waters in 2016 may have stimulated greater microbial production compared to subsequent years.  $\beta/\alpha$  was likely lower in 2017 and 2018 due to increased flows and greater hydrologic connectivity, as greater mixing of water with soils led to greater transfer of terrestrially derived DOM.

# 5.1.3 Processes Resulting in Spatial Variability of DOC Concentration and DOM Quality in the Proposed Conceptual Model

DOC concentration variability across a watershed is reflective of changes in land use and landscape, as well as in-stream processing of DOC as a secondary control (Dawson et al., 2008). These processes are discussed by landscape unit within the Spencer Creek watershed, and all tie into the proposed conceptual model (Figure 5.1). Within the conceptual model (1) runoff from the headwater sites are treated as providing consistent flows during wet or dry conditions with the lowest DOC concentrations, (2) the greatest DOC concentrations are observed in the mid-catchment region, exporting allochthonous and recalcitrant DOM downstream, (3) reservoirs are sites of DOM processing as the sites downstream of the reservoirs in this study (reservoir-influenced) have strong autochthonous sourced DOM that is labile in nature, and (4) the outlet had intermediate concentrations due to mixing and processing upstream.

#### 5.1.3.1 Headwaters

Despite Gore 2 and Gore 3 having similar land use statistics compared to the midcatchment sites (Table 3.1), DOC concentrations were lowest because of the groundwater influence. DOC concentrations typically decrease with depth within the soil profile, as the contribution of organic matter from plants decreases (Boyer et al., 1997; McDowell and Wood, 1984). Resultantly, groundwater typically has lower DOC concentrations relative to rivers or streams (Tate and Meyer, 1983), explaining why Gore 2 and Gore 3 consistently had the lowest DOC concentrations in the watershed over the three years. Site- to- site variability in DOC concentration can additionally be investigated using log DOC concentration— log discharge relationships, as they describe if chemicals are mobilizing, diluting, or are at a chemostatic equilibrium with increasing flows (Godsey et al., 2009). Gore 2 and Gore 3 have contrasting

trends in concentration— discharge relations despite similar topographic and geographic locations within the watershed (Figure 4.9). These results align with previous research that determined there is high spatial heterogeneity between DOC concentration and discharge relationships in headwater streams due to the heterogeneity of DOM sources (Creed et al., 2015). Gore 2 had a strong positive mobilization relationship (p<0.05) indicating that high flows play a role in observed increases in DOC concentrations at this site, whereas Gore 3 had a nonsignificant trend (Table 4.5). The Fletcher Creek Ecological Preserve is located upstream of Gore 2 and is a calcareous fen with alkaline waters that are typically higher in dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) (Duval and Waddington, 2018). Resultantly, the wetland is likely low in DOC and is not a major contributor downstream. Instead, DOC is likely flushing from organic rich soils along the banks of Gore 2 during flow events, rather than sourced upstream.

As determined by the PCA, DOM quality and structure in the headwaters had a mixed signature of allochthonous and autochthonous inputs, as values for all indices were intermediate (Figure 4.17) (Table 4.1). A mixed signature is observed likely due to groundwater – surface water interactions at these sites. DOM quality in groundwater samples has been found to have lower molecular weight, indicating a greater allochthonous signature (Inamdar et al., 2012; Shen et al., 2015). However, as water at these sites are a mixture of both groundwater and surface water, the allochthonous signature is attenuated.

#### 5.1.3.2 Mid-catchment

DOC concentrations were highest in the mid-catchment region of the watershed (Figure 4.4) (Table 4.1). Land use in the mid-catchment sites is mixed, with more than half the land use consisting of wetland and agriculture (Table 3.1). The mid-catchment sites combined account for

82% of total wetland cover of the study area in the Spencer Creek watershed, and therefore have the strongest wetland signature among all the landscape units. Beverly swamp, a large (10 km<sup>2</sup>) wetland complex is within the mid-catchment region, and is located downstream of Valens and upstream of Safari. Within the swamp, peat depth averages at a depth of 70-80 cm, with an average surface layer organic content averaging 50% (Warren et al., 2001; Woo and Valverde, 1981). In terms of agricultural land use, the mid-catchment sites account for 70% of total agriculture land cover in the watershed. Resultantly, the mid-catchment sites are strongly influenced by both land use types.

With the large contributions of wetlands to this part of the watershed, higher stream DOC concentrations observed support findings of previous studies indicating wetlands as a rich source of DOC into stream and rivers (Creed et al., 2003; Eckhardt and Moore, 1990; Gergel et al., 1999; Mulholland, 1997) as a positive relationship between DOC concentration and increasing percent wetland cover was observed (p< 0.05) (Figure 4.5). Previous studies in Beverly Swamp have determined that during high flow periods, flow paths were dominantly from wetland to stream, strongly affecting surface water chemistry whereas during low flow conditions, flow paths were reversed from stream to wetland (Galloway and Branfireun, 2004; Warren et al., 2001). The DOC concentrations and log DOC concentration – log discharge data supports previous work in the region, as concentrations were both significantly higher during wet years (p<0.05) (Table 4.2), and log DOC concentration – log discharge relationships had positive slopes at Safari and Con4WE suggesting mobilization of DOC at higher flows (Table 4.5). HWY5 is an outlier from this trend as neither DOC concentrations significantly increased during wet years, nor was a positive slope for log DOC concentration – log discharge observed (Figure

4.9) (Table 4.2). HWY5 is likely at chemostasis, as flows do not significantly alter DOC concentrations.

Indices data supports the strong wetland influence on stream DOC as DOM quality reflects DOC sourced from wetlands rather than agricultural DOC. The mid-catchment sites consistently cluster together on the regression plots of PC1 versus indices determined by the PCA (Figure 4.17). The plots reveal that the mid-catchments sites had the lowest  $\beta/\alpha$  and E2/E3, and the highest HIX and SUVA<sub>254</sub> suggesting DOM was terrestrially-derived, and had higher molecular weight, humification, and aromatic carbon content at these sites. DOM structure and sources at these sites are indicative of a wetland source, as wetlands accumulate recalcitrant DOM that is more complex in structure and less bioavailable (Tulonen, 2004). Agricultural DOM quality is typically more autochthonous in source and labile in structure, which is a consistent finding among studies (Dalzell et al., 2011; Kelton et al., 2007; Stanley et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2010; Wilson and Xenopoulos, 2009). In this study, FI had a significant positive correlation with increasing agriculture cover (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.6) (Table 4.4), which again is consistent with the findings from previous studies. Kelton et al (2007) analysed 16 streams across central and southern Ontario in varying land uses and found FI to highest in agricultural and urban streams, whereas boreal streams influenced by wetlands had the lowest FI values. In agricultural watersheds in Ontario, Wilson and Xenopoulos (2009) determined that with increasing agriculture cover, DOM quality indicated a more microbially derived source, and composition changed from high to low molecular weight with reduced aromaticity. Another study in southern Ontario looking at 43 streams in mixed land uses found DOM sources from agricultural streams to be more labile in structure and bioavailable compared to DOM sourced from wetland streams

(Williams et al., 2010). Despite the mixed land use within this region of the watershed, DOM quality results suggest stream DOC is wetland dominated, and that the wetlands within the region influence stream DOC quality more than agricultural sources.

#### 5.1.3.3 Reservoir-Influenced

DOC concentrations were significantly different among the reservoir-influenced sites (Valens, Crooks, and Harvest) (Table A4). Valens and Crooks are both downstream of two large reservoirs operated by the Hamilton Conservation Authority, whereas Harvest is downstream of Lafarge Quarry (a limestone mine) that manages a relatively smaller reservoir. Despite significant differences among the three sites, DOC concentrations between Crooks and Valens had similar three-year averages (Table 4.3), while DOC concentrations at Harvest were more similar to those of the headwater sites. The low DOC concentrations observed are likely a result of little to no sources of organic material within the quarry.

The most striking similarity between the reservoir-influenced sites is reflected in DOM quality, as these sites consistently cluster together on the regression plots of PC1 versus indices determined by the PCA (Figure 4.17). Reservoir influenced sites had the highest  $\beta/\alpha$  and E2/E3, and the lowest HIX and SUVA<sub>254</sub>, implying that DOM had a greater autochthonous signature, and DOM composition had the lowest molecular weight, degree of humification and complexity in reservoirs and standing waters within the Spencer Creek watershed. Previous studies have determined lakes and reservoirs to be sources of autochthonous DOC due to increased microbial activity and photodegradation processes stimulated by solar radiation and warmer waters (Kalbitz et al., 2000; Stedmon et al., 2006; Winterdahl et al., 2016). Comparing sites upstream and downstream of Valens Reservoir (Gore 2 vs Valens) and Christie Reservoir (HWY5 vs

Crooks), an increase in water temperature was observed downstream of the reservoirs compared to upstream inputs (Figure 4.20). Additionally, the Hamilton Conservation Authority has previously determined water leaving Valens and Christie reservoirs are warmer compared to upstream inputs (Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2012b, 2011). Along with enhanced autochthonous production as a result of increased microbial activity, increased water residence times in lakes and reservoirs result in higher DOM photodegradation rates (Stedmon et al., 2006). Photodegradation breaks down larger components of DOM into lower molecular weight structures (Tulonen, 2004). This results in more labile, reactive, and bioavailable DOM as smaller structures are more easily up taken by organisms and therefore have a shorter turnover time compared to larger DOM structures (Jiao, 2010; Sinsabaugh and Foreman, 2003). The high E2/E3 values, and low HIX and SUVA confirm that photodegradation processes are transforming DOM in reservoir-influenced sites. Overall, a combination of both enhanced microbial activity and photodegradation processes are likely responsible for the microbial signature observed.

# 5.1.3.4 Outlet

The outlet of the study area, Dundas, represents the most urbanized sampling site (Table 3.1) although it represents 7.7% of the urban cover in the total drainage area and therefore not truly reflective of an urban signal. Concentration-discharge patterns at the outlet show that DOC mobilized with increasing flows (Figure 4.9), suggesting that as water outlets into Cootes Paradise, it flushes out greater amounts of DOC with increases in flows. However, the DOC concentrations observed at the outlet were intermediate in concentration in compared to other regions of the watershed (Figure 4.4), likely due to mixing and processing upstream attenuating concentrations, and due to lower overall wetland fractional cover at the outlet (Table 3.1). Creed

et al., (2015) suggested that along the river continuum, the greatest variability in DOC concentrations and DOM composition occurs in the headwaters due to heterogeneity of DOM sources and the variable patterns of hysteresis during runoff events. However, as flows accumulate downstream, there is both reduced concentration variability and compositional variability. Concentration variability is reduced due to averaging of allochthonous source areas via hydrological mixing, and this results in DOM inputs having smaller impacts on total stream DOM. Composition variability is reduced due to biogeochemical processing such as degradation leading to preferential losses of aromatic DOM and gains of aliphatic (simple-chained) DOM (Creed et al., 2015; Montgomery, 1999). This concept supports and explains the relative decrease in DOC concentration, as well as the intermediate values for all indices observed at the outlet indicating a mixed signature of allochthonous and autochthonous inputs.

Urban land use was also found to have significant correlations with FI,  $\beta/\alpha$ , and E2/E3 with increasing percent urban land cover (Table 4.4) indicating a greater autochthonous source for DOM that is freshly produced and lower in molecular weight. These findings support those of Williams et al., (2010), indicating that as more land is converted for urban use, greater autochthonous and labile DOM will be produced or transformed from allochthonous sources, further stimulating microbial activity. While DOM quality did not have a strong autochthonous signature at the outlet relative to the other regions of the watershed (such as reservoir-influenced), this relationship does highlight the tendency of DOM composition to change with urban land use.

# 5.1.4 Processes Resulting in Seasonal Variability of DOC Concentrations in the Proposed Conceptual Model

DOC concentrations in streams and soil vary seasonally, with greater concentrations during the summer months compared to winter (Kalbitz et al., 2000; Stedmon et al., 2006). This study spanned June-August in 2016, May-November in 2017, and March-October in 2018. Resultantly, winter DOC dynamics were not reflected in this study, however seasonal trends between spring and late summer/early fall were observed. Specifically, in 2017 and 2018, DOC concentrations increased around October at almost all sites (Figure 4.8). The timing of peak DOC observed supports previous conclusions made about the seasonality of DOC. Dawson et al (2008) determined that autumn and summer are a peak time for DOC export as a result of greater soil temperatures and moisture during midsummer, which enhances the turnover of organic matter. Leaf litter stored in the stream channel additionally explains increased concentrations observed as it is a source of DOC during the autumn and winter (Meyer et al., 1998). Lastly, manure application during the fall may also increase immediate observed concentrations of DOC (Chantigny, 2003).

## 5.1.5 PCA in the Context of the Proposed Conceptual Model

PC1 was found to be highly correlated with all indices (Figure 4.17), while PC2 explained the variation in DOC concentration (Figure 4.18) (Table 5.1). Resultantly, PC1 is a DOM quality signal, and may be treated as a "master index" describing how all indices change in response to environmental variables. When PC1 is high, HIX and SUVA are high, whereas  $\beta/\alpha$ and E2/E3 are low, as determined by the loadings (Table 4.6). Consequently, greater PC1 values can be interpreted as a terrestrial signature whereas lower values represent a more microbial signature.

In the context of the proposed conceptual model, the results from the PCA further confirm that DOM quality is influenced by discharge, land use and resultantly landscape unit, along with seasonality (Table 5.1). A greater terrestrial signature was observed along with increased flows (log discharge) and wetland cover, as PC1 was found to be positively correlated with these variables (Figure 5.2) (Table 5.1). A greater microbial signature was found with increased agriculture cover and stream temperature, as they were negatively correlated to PC1. The findings from the PCA further validate the patterns and processes incorporated into the conceptual model of water and DOC movement in the Spencer Creek watershed. While it was established that DOC quantity was influenced by hydrology, land use, and seasonality, the PCA results highlight that DOM quality is additionally influenced by these factors.

#### 5.2 Challenges, Implications, and Management

#### 5.2.1 Challenges and Limitations for Working in Human Impacted Watersheds

Working in large, non-pristine environments, with several stakeholders presents many challenges in conducting research. With an environment such as the Spencer Creek watershed, there are considerable human alterations to the environment that are difficult to account for. For example, permits to take water (PTTW) affect the water balance of the watershed. While these permits are posted online as public information, it is difficult to determine the establish the quantity of water pumped each day for each permit holder. Ultimately, losses of water were unaccounted for, which in turn affects how flow and runoff data are interpreted. Most application of pesticide and manure application within watershed, which likely influence DOC, also went unaccounted for unless there was a sign posted. Spills are also an issue, as not all spills are reported to the Spills Action Centre. For instance, in 2016, individuals were observed dumping

Roundup ® (an herbicide) from a truck, directly into the stream south of Beverly Swamp. While this occurrence was reported to the Hamilton Conservation Authority, the occurrence would not have been public information otherwise and this type of behaviour could be relatively common Another incident took place in July 2016 where a cross connection overflow occurred near the outlet of the watershed, where sewage water was flowing through Chegwin Park. This is another example of how water chemistry was altered due to a human-influenced event. The large size of the watershed additionally poses limitations on this study. While we had 9 monitoring sites across the watershed, there are many tributaries of Spencer Creek we did not monitor or consider for this study.

## 5.2.2 Implications and Management

There is a projected 11.9% to 16.3% increase in precipitation, and 2.2°C - 2.3°C increase in air temperatures as a result of cli8mate change in the Spencer Creek watershed (Grillakis et al., 2011; Sultana and Coulibaly, 2011). Based on the findings of this study, with anticipated wetter and warmer conditions DOC concentrations would increase in the watershed. Previous studies have determined that DOC concentrations in freshwater systems are expected to increase globally in the future due to higher input of flow from catchments to lake (Thrane et al., 2014). The repercussions of increased DOC concentrations overall implies a decrease of terrestrial carbon storage, and greater input into more reactive and susceptible pools (Evans, 2006). This research found (1) during dry conditions, a greater autochthonous signature of DOC was seen across all sites, (2) increasing agriculture and urban land use was associated with increases in autochthonous DOM quality and (3) reservoir-influenced sites were a source of bioavailable DOC regardless of wet or dry conditions. Labile pools of DOC are of concern as they are easily consumed and promote bacterial activity and biomass production (Moran and Zepp, 1997), and in turn promote the accessibility of phosphorus to phytoplankton (Gergel et al., 1999). This has negative implications for streams and lakes in the Great Lakes region where eutrophication is already a prominent issue (Diaz and Rosenberg, 2008; Kemp et al., 2009), and may result in further water quality degradation.

Management and monitoring strategies in the Great Lakes region typically only focus on the role of nitrogen, phosphorous, sediment and flow (Conley et al., 2009; Stanley et al., 2012) as these variables are of immediate concern. However, water quality degradation is an integrated issue with various causes and consequences, and these variables alone do not explain water quality impairment. DOC plays a prominent role in lakes and streams, as it is the major organic carbon pool in most aquatic ecosystems, and DOC modifies the influence of other chemicals, resultantly influencing ecosystem structure and function (Prairie, 2008; Wetzel, 2001). Sampling for DOC concentration and DOM quality needs to be a part of an integrative approach to long-term water quality monitoring in the Great Lakes region, especially in human dominated landscapes where DOC regimes may be altered. Suggestions for watershed scale monitoring include: (1) selecting sites with varying land use statistics, (2) sampling at various times during the year to obtain seasonality within the data set, and (3) targeting sampling during varying hydrological conditions to capture high flow and low flow events. Using this monitoring strategy, DOC concentrations and DOM quality regimes can be better understood in other watersheds in the Great Lakes region, and incorporated into existing water monitoring programs run by Conservation Authorities.

# **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION**

Water quality impairment is a prominent issue in the Great Lakes watershed, as industrialization, urbanization, and agricultural activity have modified the landscape in this region (Cole et al., 1998; Copeland et al., 1996). While water quality is an integrated problem with various causes and consequences, it is critical to consider the role of DOC in the environment as it represents the major organic carbon pool in most aquatic ecosystems, is a "modulator" of lake and stream processes (Prairie, 2008; Wetzel, 2001). Previous studies have determined changes in land use from pre-disturbance landscapes affect DOC quantities and quality (Stanley et al., 2012). However, the relationship between hydrological and biogeochemical processes, and their interactions in these complex, managed systems are not well understood. The objective of this work was to use hydrogeochemical and hydrometric data to identify the controls and drivers of DOC concentration and DOM quality variability in the Spencer Creek watershed. The findings of this research have accepted the hypotheses that DOC is (1) temporally variable during the study period and (2) DOC quantity and quality vary across the watershed due to landscape variability and hydrological differences. Based on the results from this study, a conceptual model of water and DOC movement in the Spencer Creek watershed was proposed with the following key findings and conclusions:

 Precipitation conditions varied over the three-year study period where 2016 was a dry year and 2017 and 2018 were both wet years based on the 30-year climate normal for the region. This allowed for comparison of DOC between wet and dry conditions, as there was substantial variation in flow magnitudes, which resulted in DOC concentration and DOM quality to vary across the Spencer Creek watershed. In the proposed conceptual

model, DOC significantly increases during wet conditions due to shifts in hydrological pathways from dry conditions.

- 2) DOC concentrations were lowest at groundwater influenced sites in the headwaters of the watershed due to groundwater influences. DOM quality was found to be intermediate.
- 3) DOC concentrations were highest in the mid-catchment region where the area is dominated by wetland and agricultural land cover. DOC concentration was found to increase with greater percent wetland cover and decrease with percent agricultural and urban cover. Results in the mid-catchment indicate both concentration and quality were strongly influenced by wetland sources rather than agriculture as concentrations were the highest, and quality was the most allochthonous and recalcitrant relative to the other regions of the watershed.
- 4) The reservoir-influenced sites had relatively intermediate concentrations of DOC. However, DOM quality was the most autochthonous and labile relative to the other regions of the watershed due to increased microbial activity and photodegradation processes in reservoirs stimulated by solar radiation and warmer waters.
- 5) At the outlet, DOC concentrations were attenuated and DOM quality was intermediate between allochthonous and autochthonous end members, reflecting upstream mixing processes and biogeochemical processing of DOM occurring along the river continuum.
- 6) Seasonal increases in DOC concentrations were observed during the later summer and early fall as a result of greater soil temperatures and moisture during midsummer which enhances the turnover of organic matter.

These findings highlight the importance of continued study of DOC dynamics and the complex interconnections between hydrology and geochemistry at the watershed scale in the Great Lakes region. With anticipated wetter and warmer conditions as a result of climate change DOC concentrations would increase in the watershed, and likely in other watersheds in the Great Lakes region as well. The repercussions of increased DOC concentrations overall implies a decrease of terrestrial carbon storage, and greater input into more reactive and susceptible pools (Evans, 2006). Resultantly, monitoring for DOC concentration and DOM quality should be integrated into long term water quality monitoring programs in the Great Lakes region, as the role of carbon in aquatic ecosystems contributes to the greater understanding of water quality degradation.

# REFERENCES

- Ågren, A., Buffam, I., Berggren, M., Bishop, K., Jansson, M., Laudon, H., 2008. Dissolved organic carbon characteristics in boreal streams in a forest-wetland gradient during the transition between winter and summer. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 113. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007JG000674
- Ågren, A., Buffam, I., Jansson, M., Laudon, H., 2007. Importance of seasonality and small streams for the landscape regulation of dissolved organic carbon export. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 112, n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JG000381
- Aiken, G., 2014. Fluorescence and Dissolved Organic Matter, in: Coble, P., Lead, J., Baker, A., Reynolds, D.M., Spencer, R.G.M. (Eds.), Aquatic Organic Matter Fluorescence. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 35–74. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139045452.005
- Aitkenhead-Peterson, J.A., McDowell, W.H., Neff, J.C., 2003. Sources, Production, and Regulation of Allochthonous Dissolved Organic Matter Inputs to Surface Waters. Aquat. Ecosyst. 25–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012256371-3/50003-2
- Aitkenhead-Peterson, J.A., Smart, R.P., Aitkenhead, M.J., Cresser, M.S., McDowell, W.H., 2007. Spatial and temporal variation of dissolved organic carbon export from gauged and ungauged watersheds of Dee Valley, Scotland: Effect of land cover and C:N. Water Resour. Res. 43. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006WR004999
- Aitkenhead-Peterson, J.A., Steele, M.K., Nahar, N., Santhy, K., 2009. Dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen in urban and rural watersheds of south-central Texas: land use and land management influences. Biogeochemistry 96, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-009-9348-2
- Basu, N.B., Thompson, S.E., Rao, P.S.C., 2011. Hydrologic and biogeochemical functioning of intensively managed catchments: A synthesis of top-down analyses. Water Resour. Res. 47, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011WR010800
- Bolan, N.S., Adriano, D.C., Kunhikrishnan, A., James, T., McDowell, R., Senesi, N., 2011. Dissolved Organic Matter. Biogeochemistry, Dynamics, and Environmental Significance in Soils., 1st ed, Advances in Agronomy. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385531-2.00001-3
- Boyer, E.W., Hornberger, G.M., Bencala, K.E., McKnight, D.M., 1997. Response characteristics of DOC flushing in an alpine catchment. Hydrol. Process. 11, 1635–1647. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(19971015)11:12<1635::AID-HYP494>3.0.CO;2-H
- Chantigny, M.H., 2003. Dissolved and water-extractable organic matter in soils: A review on the influence of land use and management practices, in: Geoderma. pp. 357–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7061(02)00370-1
- Chow, A.T., Dahlgren, R.A., Harrison, J.A., 2007. Watershed sources of disinfection byproduct precursors in the Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers, California. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 7645–52.
- Clark, I.D., Fritz, P., 1997. Environmental Isotopes in Hydrogeology. Lewis Publ, New York.
- Coble, P., Lead, J., Spencer, R., Reynolds, D., Baker, A., 2014. Aquatic Organic Matter Fluorescence. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139045452
- Cole, K.L., Davis, M.B., Stearns, F., Guntenspergen, G., Walker, K., 1998. Historical Landcover Changes in the Great Lakes Region, in: Perspectives on the Land Use History of North

America: A Context for Understanding Our Changing Environment. Biological Science Report USGS/BRD/BSR-1998-0003. pp. 43–50.

- Conley, D.J., Paerl, H.W., Howarth, R.W., Boesch, D.F., Seitzinger, S.P., Havens, K.E., Lancelot, C., Likens, G.E., 2009. Ecology - Controlling eutrophication: Nitrogen and phosphorus. Science (80-. ). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1167755
- Conservation Ontario, 2018. About Conservation Ontario [WWW Document]. URL https://conservationontario.ca/about-us/conservation-ontario/ (accessed 11.21.18).
- Copeland, J.H., Pielke, R.A., Kittel, T.G.F., 1996. Potential climatic impacts of vegetation change: A regional modeling study, Journal of Geophysical Research.
- Cory, R.M., Boyer, E.W., McKnight, D.M., 2011. Spectral Methods to Advance Understanding of Dissolved Organic Carbon Dynamics in Forested Catchments, in: Forest Hydrology and Biogeochemistry Synthesis of Past Research and Future Directions. pp. 117–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1363-5\_6
- Cory, R.M., McKnight, D.M., 2005. Fluorescence Spectroscopy Reveals Ubiquitous Presence of Oxidized and Reduced Quinones in Dissolved Organic Matter Fluorescence Spectroscopy Reveals Ubiquitous Presence of Oxidized and Reduced Quinones in Dissolved Organic Matter 39, 8142–8149. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0506962
- Craig, H., 1961. Isotopic Variations in Meteoric Waters. Science 133, 1702–3. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.133.3465.1702
- Creed, I.F., McKnight, D.M., Pellerin, B.A., Green, M.B., Bergamaschi, B.A., Aiken, G.R., Burns, D.A., Findlay, S.E.G., Shanley, J.B., Striegl, R.G., Aulenbach, B.T., Clow, D.W., Laudon, H., McGlynn, B.L., McGuire, K.J., Smith, R.A., Stackpoole, S.M., 2015. The river as a chemostat: fresh perspectives on dissolved organic matter flowing down the river continuum. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 72, 1272–1285. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2014-0400
- Creed, I.F., Sanford, S.E., Beall, F.D., Molot, L.A., Dillon, P.J., 2003. Cryptic wetlands: integrating hidden wetlands in regression models of the export of dissolved organic carbon from forested landscapes. Process 17, 3629–3648. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.1357
- Cronan, C.S., Piampiano, J.T., Patterson, H.H., 1999. Influence of Land Use and Hydrology on Exports of Carbon and Nitrogen in a Maine River Basin. J. Environ. Qual. 28, 953. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq1999.00472425002800030028x
- Crosbie, B., Chow-Fraser, P., 1999. Percentage land use in the watershed determines the water and sediment quality of 22 marshes in the Great Lakes basin. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56, 1781–1791. https://doi.org/10.1139/f99-109
- Dalzell, B.J., Filley, T.R., Harbor, J.M., 2006. The role of hydrology in annual organic carbon loads and terrestrial organic matter export from a midwestern agricultural watershed. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2006.12.009
- Dalzell, B.J., King, J.Y., Mulla, D.J., Finlay, J.C., Sands, G.R., 2011. Influence of subsurface drainage on quantity and quality of dissolved organic matter export from agricultural landscapes of subsurface drainage on quantity and quality of dissolved organic matter export from agricultural landscapes. J. Geophys. Res 116, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010JG001540
- Dalzell, B.J., Minor, E.C., Mopper, K.M., 2009. Photodegradation of estuarine dissolved organic matter: a multi-method assessment of DOM transformation. Org. Geochem. 40, 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orggeochem.2008.10.003
- Dansgaard, W., 1964. Stable isotopes in precipitation. Tellus 16, 436–468.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2153-3490.1964.tb00181.x

- Dawson, J.J.C., Soulsby, C., Tetzlaff, D., Hrachowitz, M., Dunn, S.M., Malcolm, I.A., 2008. Influence of hydrology and seasonality on DOC exports from three contrasting upland catchments. Biogeochemistry 90, 93–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-008-9234-3
- Deletic, A., 1998. The first flush load of urban surface runoff. Water Res. 32, 2462–2470. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(97)00470-3
- Depinto, J. V, Lam, D., Auer, M., Burns, N., Chapra, S., Charlton, M., Dolan, D., Kreis, R., Howell, T., Scavia, D., 1986. Examination of the Status of the Goals of Annex 3 of the Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement.
- Diaz, R.J., Rosenberg, R., 2008. Spreading dead zones and consequences for marine ecosystems. Science (80-. ). 321, 926–929. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1156401
- Dingman, S.L., 1994. Physical hydrology. Macmillan Pub. Co.
- Dong, W., Wan, J., Tokunaga, T.K., Gilbert, B., Williams, K.H., 2017. Transport and humification of dissolved organic matter within a semi-arid floodplain. J. Environ. Sci. (China) 57, 24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2016.12.011
- Duval, T., Solondz, D., Waddington, M., Branfireun, B., 2009. Optimising Ecohydrological Protocols to Enhance Calcareous Wetland Rehabilitation in Abandoned Quarries CIRCULATION PAPER Prepared for The Ontario Aggregate Resources Corporation.
- Duval, T.P., Waddington, J.M., 2018. Effect of hydrogeomorphic setting on calcareous fen hydrology. Hydrol. Process. 32, 1695–1708. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.11625
- Eckhardt, B.W., Moore, T.R., 1990. Controls on Dissolved Organic Carbon Concentrations in Streams, Southern Québec. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 47, 1537–1544. https://doi.org/10.1139/f90-173
- Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2019. Historical Data [WWW Document]. URL http://climate.weather.gc.ca/historical\_data/search\_historic\_data\_e.html (accessed 6.10.19).
- Evans, C.D., 2006. Alternative explanations for rising dissolved organic carbon export from organic soils. Glob. Chang. Biol. 12.
- Fasching, C., Ulseth, A.J., Schelker, J., Steniczka, G., Battin, T.J., 2016. Hydrology controls dissolved organic matter export and composition in an Alpine stream and its hyporheic zone. Limnol. Oceanogr. 61, 558–571. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10232
- Galloway, M., Branfireun, B., 2004. Mercury dynamics of a temperate forested wetland. Sci. Total Environ. 325, 239–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2003.11.010
- Gergel, S.E., Turner, M.G., Kratz, T.K., 1999. Dissolved organic carbon as an indicator of the scale of watershed influence on lakes and rivers. Ecol. Appl. 9, 1377–1390. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(1999)009[1377:DOCAAI]2.0.CO;2
- Gibson, J.J., Edwards, T.W.D., Bursey, G.G., 1993. Estimating Evaporation Using Stable Isotopes: Quantitative Results and Sensitivity Analysis for Two Catchments in Northern Canada, Nordic Hydrology.
- Godsey, S.E., Kirchner, J.W., Clow, D.W., 2009. Concentration-discharge relationships reflect chemostatic characteristics of US catchments. Hydrol. Process. Hydrol. Process 23, 1844–1864. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7315
- Goonetilleke, A., Thomas, E., Ginn, S., Gilbert, D., 2005. Understanding the role of land use in urban stormwater quality management. J. Environ. Manage. 74, 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2004.08.006

Government of Ontario, 2018. Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. O.40.

Government of Ontario, 2016. Water Quality in Ontario 2014 Report [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.ontario.ca/page/water-quality-ontario-2014-report

Government of Ontario, 2015. Great Lakes Protection Act, 2015, S.O. 2015, c. 24.

- Government of Ontario, 1990. Conservation Authorities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.27.
- Grillakis, M.G., Koutroulis, A.G., Tsanis, I.K., 2011. Climate change impact on the hydrology of Spencer Creek watershed in Southern Ontario, Canada. J. Hydrol. 409, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.06.018
- Gröning, M., Lutz, H.O., Roller-Lutz, Z., Kralik, M., Gourcy, L., Pöltenstein, L., 2012. A simple rain collector preventing water re-evaporation dedicated for δ 18 O and δ 2 H analysis of cumulative precipitation samples. J. Hydrol. 448–449, 195–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.04.041
- Guo, L., Hunt, B.J., Santschi, P.H., Ray, S.M., 2001. Effect of dissolved organic matter on the uptake of trace metals by American oysters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 35, 885–93.
- Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2012a. Upper Spencer Creek Subwatershed Plan.
- Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2012b. Upper Spencer, Fletcher and Flamborough Creeks.
- Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2011. Middle Spencer, Westover and West Spencer Subwatersheds.
- Hamilton Conservation Authority, 2009. Borer's, Logie's & amp; Sydenham Creek Subwatersheds.
- Hansen, A.M., Kraus, T.E.C., Pellerin, B.A., Fleck, J.A., Downing, B.D., Bergamaschi, B.A., 2016. Optical properties of dissolved organic matter (DOM): Effects of biological and photolytic degradation. Limnol. Oceanogr. 61, 1015–1032. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10270
- Helms, J.R., Stubbins, A., Ritchie, J.D., Minor, E.C., Kieber, D.J., Mopper, K., 2008. Absorption spectral slopes and slope ratios as indicators of molecular weight, source, and photobleaching of chromophoric dissolved organic matter. Limnol. Oceanogr. 53, 955–969. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2008.53.3.0955
- Hoefs, J., 2009. Stable Isotope Geochemistry, Springer Textbooks in Earth Sciences, Geography and Environment. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78527-1
- Inamdar, S., Finger, N., Singh, S., Mitchell, M., Levia, D., Bais, H., Scott, D., McHale, P., 2012. Dissolved organic matter (DOM) concentration and quality in a forested mid-Atlantic watershed, USA. Biogeochemistry 108, 55–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-011-9572-4
- Jaffé, R., McKnight, D., Maie, N., Cory, R., McDowell, W.H., Campbell, J.L., 2008. Spatial and temporal variations in DOM composition in ecosystems: The importance of long-term monitoring of optical properties. J. Geophys. Res. 113, G04032. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008JG000683
- Jiao, N., 2010. Microbial production of recalcitrant dissolved organic matter: long-term carbon storage in the global ocean, Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2386
- Kalbitz, K., Solinger, S., Park, J.H., Michalzik, B., Matzner, E., 2000. Controls on the dynamics of dissolved organic matter in soils: a review. Soil Sci. 165, 277–304.
- Karanfil, T., Schlautman, M.A., Erdogan, I., 2002. Survey of DOC and UV measurement practices with implications for SUVA determination. Source J. (American Water Work. Assoc. 94113111, 68–80.
- Karrow, P.F., 1959. Pleistocene Geology of the Hamilton Map-Area. Geol. Circ. Ontario Dep. Mines. Toronto.
- Kelton, N., Molot, L.A., Dillon, P.J., 2007. Spectrofluorometric properties of dissolved organic

matter from Central and Southern Ontario streams and the influence of iron and irradiation. Water Res. 41, 638–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2006.11.001

- Kemp, W.M., Testa, J.M., Conley, D.J., Gilbert, D., Hagy, J.D., 2009. Biogeosciences 2009 6 2985-3008.pdf 2985–3008.
- Kendall, C., 2004. Isotope Tracers Resources [WWW Document]. USGS. URL https://wwwrcamnl.wr.usgs.gov/isoig/period/h iig.html (accessed 6.2.19).
- Kendall, C., McDonnell, J.J., 1998. Isotope tracers in catchment hydrology. Elsevier.
- Khan, M.G., Liu, C., Mottaleb, A., Wan, G., Ogawa, H., Vione, D., YoshiokaT., Wu, F.,
  Engineering, E.S. and, 2013. Dissolved Organic Matter in Natural Waters, in:
  Photobiogeochemistry of Organic Matter Principles and Practices in Water Environments.
  Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-32223-5
- King, K.W., Williams, M.R., Macrae, M.L., Fausey, N.R., Frankenberger, J., Smith, D.R., Kleinman, P.J.A., Brown, L.C., 2015. Phosphorus Transport in Agricultural Subsurface Drainage: A Review. J. Environ. Qual. 44, 467. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2014.04.0163
- Laudon, H., Berggren, M., Ågren, A., Buffam, I., Bishop, K., Grabs, T., Köhler, S., 2011. Patterns and Dynamics of Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) in Boreal Streams: The Role of Processes, Connectivity, and Scaling 14, 880–893. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-01
- Laurion, I., Mladenov, N., 2013. Dissolved organic matter photolysis in Canadian arctic thaw ponds. Environ. Res. Lett. 8. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/035026
- Lindell, M.J., Graneli, W., Tranvik, L.J., 1995. Enhanced Bacterial Growth in Response to Photochemical Transformation of Dissolved.
- Longstaffe, F.J., Ayalon, A., Hladyniuk, R., Hyodo, A., Macdonald, R., St Amour, N., Crowe, A., Huddart, P., 2013. The Oxygen and Hydrogen Isotope Evolution of the Great Lakes. Vienna.
- Macrae, M.L., English, M.C., Schiff, S.L., Stone, M., 2007. Capturing temporal variability for estimates of annual hydrochemical export from a first-order agricultural catchment in southern Ontario, Canada. Hydrol. Process. Hydrol. Process 21, 1651–1663. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.6361
- Maloney, K.O., Mulholland, P.J., Feminella, J.W., 2005. Influence of Catchment-Scale Military Land Use on Stream Physical and Organic Matter Variables in Small Southeastern Plains Catchments (USA). Environ. Manage. 35, 677–691. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-004-4212-6
- Mao, D., Cherkauer, K.A., 1996. Impacts of land-use change on hydrologic responses in the Great Lakes region. J. Hydrol. 374, 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.06.016
- McDowell, W.H., Wood, T., 1984. Podzolization: Soil Processes Control Dissolved Organic Carbon Concentrations in Stream Water. Soil Sci. 137, 23–32.
- McKnight, D.M., Boyer, E.W., Westerhoff, P.K., Doran, P.T., Kulbe, T., Andersen, D.T., 2001. Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic material and aromaticity. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46, 38–48. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2001.46.1.0038
- Meyer, J.L., Wallace, J.B., Eggert, S.L., 1998. Leaf Litter as a Source of Dissolved Organic Carbon in Streams. Ecosystems 1, 240–249.
- Molinero, J., Burke, R.A., 2009. Effects of land use on dissolved organic matter biogeochemistry in piedmont headwater streams of the Southeastern United States. Hydrobiologia 635, 289–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-009-9921-7
- Montgomery, D.R., 1999. Process domains and the river continuum JAWRA 35, no. 2 (1999): 397-410. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 35, 397–410. https://doi.org/10.4296/cwrj0401121
- Moore, T.R., Roulet, N.T., Waddington, J.M., 1998. Uncertainty in Predicting the Effect of Climatic Change on the Carbon Cycling of Canadian Peatlands. Clim. Change 40, 229–245. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005408719297
- Moran, M.A., Covert, J.S., 2007. Photochemically Mediated Linkages between Dissolved Organic Matter and Bacterioplankton, in: Aquatic Ecosystems. Academic Press, pp. 243– 262. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-012256371-3/50011-1

Moran, M.A., Covert, J.S., 2003. Photochemically Mediated Linkages between Dissolved Organic Matter and Bacterioplankton. Aquat. Ecosyst. 243–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012256371-3/50011-1

Moran, M.A., Zepp, R.G., 1997. Role of photoreactions in the formation of biologically labile compounds from dissolved organic matter, Limnol Ocermogr.

Morrice, J.A., Vallet, M.H., Dahm, C.N., Campana, M.E., 1997. Alluvial characteristics, groundwater-surface water exchange and hydrological retention in headwater streams. Hydrol. Process. 11, 253–267. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(19970315)11:3<253::AID-HYP439>3.0.CO;2-J

- Mulholland, P.J., 1997. Dissolved Organic Matter Concentration and Flux in Streams. Source J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 16, 131–141.
- Mulholland, P.J., Hill, W.R., 1997. Seasonal patterns in streamwater nutrient and dissolved organic carbon concentrations: Separating catchment flow path and in-stream effects, WATER RESOURCES RESEARCH. https://doi.org/10.1029/97WR00490
- Münster, U., Chróst, R.J., 1990. Origin, Composition, and Microbial Utilization of Dissolved Organic Matter. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 8–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-3382-4\_2
- O'Driscoll, M., Clinton, S., Jefferson, A., Manda, A., McMillan, S., 2010. Urbanization Effects on Watershed Hydrology and In-Stream Processes in the Southern United States. Water 2, 605–648. https://doi.org/10.3390/w2030605
- Ohno, T., 2002. Fluorescence Inner-Filtering Correction for Determining the Humification Index of Dissolved Organic Matter. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES0155276
- Ontario Geologic Survey, 1991. Bedrock geology of Ontario, Southern Sheet, Map 2544.
- Ontario Geological Survey, 1969. Preliminary Map P0535, Galt-Hamilton Sheet Southern Ontario Drift. Ontario's Minist. North. Dev. Mines. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl904053j
- Pacific, V.J., Jencso, K.G., McGlynn, B.L., 2010. Variable flushing mechanisms and landscape structure control stream DOC export during snowmelt in a set of nested catchments. Biogeochemistry 99, 193–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-009-9401-1
- Parlanti, E., Wörz, K., Geoffroy, L., Lamotte, M., 2000. Dissolved organic matter fluorescence spectroscopy as a tool to estimate biological activity in a coastal zone submitted to anthropogenic inputs. Org. Geochem. 17.
- Peterjohn, W.T., Correll, D.L., 1984. Nutrient Dynamics in an Agricultural Watershed: Observations on the Role of A Riparian Forest. Ecology 65, 1466–1475. https://doi.org/10.2307/1939127
- Peuravuori, J., Pihlaja, K., 1997. Molecular size distribution and spectroscopic properties of aquatic humic substances. Anal. Chim. Acta 337, 133–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-2670(96)00412-6
- Pokrovsky, O.S., Shirokova, L., 2017. Dissolved organic matter (DOM): Properties, applications and behavior, Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM): Properties, Applications and Behavior. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICSE.2001.919083

- Poulin, B.A., Ryan, J.N., Aiken, G.R., 2014. Effects of Iron on Optical Properties of Dissolved Organic Matter. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 10098–10106. https://doi.org/10.1021/es502670r
- Prairie, Y.T., 2008. Carbocentric limnology: looking back, looking forward. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65, 543–548. https://doi.org/10.1139/f08-011
- Rastelli, J., 2016. Dissolved organic carbon concentration, patterns and quality at a reclaimed and two natural wetlands, Fort McMurray, Alberta. 126.
- Ryther, J.H., Dunstan, W.M., 1971. Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Eutrophication in the Coastal Marine Environment. Science (80-.). 171, 1008–1013.
- Sear, D.A., Armitage, P.D., Dawson, F.H., 1999. Groundwater dominated rivers, Hydrological Processes.
- Shafer, M.M., Overdier, J.T., Hurley, J.P., Armstrong, D., Webb, D., 1997. The influence of dissolved organic carbon, suspended particulates, and hydrology on the concentration, partitioning and variability of trace metals in two contrasting Wisconsin watersheds (U.S.A.). Chem. Geol. 136, 71–97. https://doi.org/doi: DOI: 10.1016/S0009-2541(96)00139-8
- Shen, Y., Chapelle, F.H., Strom, E.W., Benner, R., 2015. Origins and bioavailability of dissolved organic matter in groundwater. Biogeochemistry 122, 61–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-014-0029-4
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Foreman, C.M., 2003. Integrating Dissolved Organic Matter Metabolism and Microbial Diversity: An Overview of Conceptual Models. Aquat. Ecosyst. 425–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012256371-3/50019-6
- Spence, A., Simpson, A.J., Mcnally, D.J., Moran, B.W., McCaul, M. V., Hart, K., Paull, B., Kelleher, B.P., 2011. The degradation characteristics of microbial biomass in soil. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 75, 2571–2581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2011.03.012
- Spencer, R.G.M., Baker, A., Ahad, J.M.E., Cowie, G.L., Ganeshram, R., Upstill-Goddard, R.C., Uher, G., 2007. Discriminatory classification of natural and anthropogenic waters in two U.K. estuaries. Sci. Total Environ. 373, 305–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.10.052
- Stanley, E.H., Powers, S.M., Lottig, N.R., Buffam, I., Crawford, J.T., 2012. Contemporary changes in dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in human-dominated rivers: Is there a role for DOC management? Freshw. Biol. 57, 26–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02613.x
- Stedmon, C.A., Markager, S., Søndergaard, M., Vang, T., Laubel, A., Borch, N.H., Windelin, A., 2006. Dissolved organic matter (DOM) export to a temperate estuary: seasonal variations and implications of land use. Estuaries and Coasts 29, 388–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02784988
- Steedman, R.J., 1988. Modification and Assessment of an Index of Biotic Integrity to Quantify Stream Quality in Southern Ontario. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 45, 492–501. https://doi.org/10.1139/f88-059
- Sultana, Z., 2009. Distributed Modeling of Spencer Creek Watershed and Assessment of Future Changes in Hydrological Processes 119.
- Sultana, Z., Coulibaly, P., 2011. Distributed modelling of future changes in hydrological processes of Spencer Creek watershed. Hydrol. Process. 25, 1254–1270. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7891
- Taniguchi, M., 1997. Subsurface Hydrological Responses to Land Cover and Land Use Changes.

Springer US.

- Tate, C.M., Meyer, J.L., 1983. The Influence of Hydrologic Conditions and Successional State on Dissolved Organic Carbon Export from Forested Watersheds, Source: Ecology.
- Thrane, J.-E., Hessen, D.O., Andersen, T., 2014. The Absorption of Light in Lakes: Negative Impact of Dissolved Organic Carbon on Primary Productivity. Ecosystems 17, 1040–1052. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-014-9776-2
- Tulonen, T., 2004. Role of allochthonous and autochthonous dissolved organic matter (DOM) as a carbon source for bacterioplankton in boreal humic lakes, Pääjärventie.
- Valeur, B., 2001. Molecular Fluorescence. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, Weinheim, FRG. https://doi.org/10.1002/3527600248
- Vidon, P., Wagner, L.E., Soyeux, E., 2008. Changes in the character of DOC in streams during storms in two Midwestern watersheds with contrasting land uses. Biogeochemistry 88, 257– 270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-008-9207-6
- Vörösmarty, C.J., Mcintyre, P.B., Gessner, M.O., Dudgeon, D., Prusevich, A., Green, P., Glidden, S., Bunn, S.E., Sullivan, C.A., Liermann, C.R., Davies, P.M., 2010. Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09440
- Wang, L., Kanehl, P., 2003. Influences of Watershed Urbanization and Instream Habitat on Macroinvertebrates in Cold Water Streams. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 39, 1181–1196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2003.tb03701.x
- Warren, F.J., Waddington, J.M., Bourbonniere, R.A., Day, S.M., 2001. Effect of drought on hydrology and sulphate dynamics in a temperate swamp. Hydrol. Process. Hydrol. Process 15, 3133–3150. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.324
- Weishaar, J.L., Aiken, G.R., Bergamaschi, B.A., Fram, M.S., Fujii, R., Mopper, K., 2003. Evaluation of specific ultraviolet absorbance as an indicator of the chemical composition and reactivity of dissolved organic carbon. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37, 4702–4708. https://doi.org/10.1021/es030360x
- Wetzel, R.G., 2001. Limnology : lake and river ecosystems. Academic Press.
- Wilcox, B.P., 2010. Ecohydrology Bearing Invited Commentary Transformation ecosystem change and ecohydology: ushering in a new era for watershed management. Ecohydrology 130, 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco
- Williams, C.J., Yamashita, Y., Wilson, H.F., Jaffe, R., Xenopoulos, M.A., 2010. Unraveling the role of land use and microbial activity in shaping dissolved organic matter characteristics in stream ecosystems. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55, 1159–1171. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.3.1159
- Williams, M.R., King, K.W., Macrae, M.L., Ford, W., Esbroeck, C. Van, Brunke, R.I., English, M.C., Schiff, S.L., 2015. Uncertainty in nutrient loads from tile-drained landscapes: Effect of sampling frequency, calculation algorithm, and compositing strategy. J. Hydrol. 530, 306–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.09.060
- Wilson, H.F., Xenopoulos, M.A., 2009. Effects of agricultural land use on the composition of fluvial dissolved organic matter. Nat. Geosci. 2, 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo391
- Winterdahl, M., Laudon, H., Lyon, S.W., Pers, C., Bishop, K., 2016. Sensitivity of stream dissolved organic carbon to temperature and discharge: Implications of future climates. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 121, 126–144. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015JG002922
- Wong, J.C.Y., Williams, D.D., 2010. Sources and seasonal patterns of dissolved organic matter (DOM) in the hyporheic zone. Hydrobiologia 647, 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-009-9950-2

- Woo, M., Valverde, J., 1986. Summer Streamflow and Water Level in a Midlatitude Forested Swamp.
- Woo, M., Valverde, J., 1981. Summer Streamflow and Water Level in a Midlatitude Forested Swamp. For. Sci. 27, 177–189. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/27.1.177

# TABLES

Table 2.1: Summary of fluorescence indices used in this study, the information each index provides on DOM quality, and its associated calculation.

Fluorescence Index	Purpose	Calculation	Interpretation with increasing allochthonous inputs
Freshness Index (β/α)	Describes the proportion of recently produced DOM. The $\beta$ peak represents microbial derived organic matter whereas $\alpha$ describes older decomposed matter.	$\beta$ peak: is the maximum intensity with its excitation at 310-320nm and its emission at 380-420nm. $\alpha$ peak: is the maximum intensity with its excitation at 420-480nm and its emission at 380-420nm.	Decreases
Fluorescence Index (FI)	Indicates whether the source of DOM is of microbial (FI $\sim$ 1.8) or terrestrial (FI $\sim$ 1.2) origins.	Ratio of emission at 450nm/ 500nm at an excitation at 370 nm (if using a non- instrument corrected spectra). It is modified to the ratio of emission at 470nm/520nm at an excitation of 370nm.	Decreases
Humification Index (HIX)	Describes the degree of humification of soils (how decomposed the organic material is). High $HIX_{EM}$ values indicate lower H/C ratios, associated with a greater degree of humification.	The area of peak under an emission of 435 to 480 nm divided by the peak area under emission 300 to 345 nm at an excitation of 254 nm.	Increases
Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance at 254nm (SUVA 254)	Infers aromatic carbon content. A high SUVA 254 is associated with higher aromatic carbon and molecular weight.	Calculated as the ratio of UV absorbance at 254 nm to the DOC concentration in L $mg^{-1}m^{-1}$	Increases
E2/ E3	Infers the molecular weight of carbon content. High E2/E3 ratios are correlated with low molecular weight.	Calculated as the ratio of absorbance at 250nm to absorbance at 380 nm.	Decreases

Table 3.1: Characteristics of the sampling sites in the Spencer Creek Watershed 2016-2018. The total area contributing to the sample I	ocation
considers the total drainage area to that sampling location. Land use descriptions describe the land use of the contributing area to each	site.

Site	Location	Total Contributing Area to Sampling	Total ContributingContributing land use statisticsSite CArea to Sampling	
		Location (km <sup>2</sup> )		
			42.4 % agriculture, 27% wetland, 15.1 % forest,	Headwater site
	43°24′48.9″ N,	4.01	1.9 % urban, 0.2% open water, 13.3%	
GORE 2	80°06'23.7" W	4.01	undifferentiated	
	43°23'59.0" N,		64.4 % agriculture, 13.2 % wetland, 11.8%	Headwater site
GORE 3	80°11'29.9" W	2.14	forest, 0.3% urban, 10.3% undifferentiated	
	43°22'56.4" N,		43.7 % agriculture, 24.3% wetland, 19.4%	Downstream of Valens Reservoir
VALENS	80°07'51.9" W	12.42	forest, 2.3% urban, 10.3% undifferentiated	
			38.3 % agriculture, 34.1% wetland, 14.4%	Mid-catchment, greatest relative
	43°21'10.8" N,		forest, 2.8 % urban, 0.1% open water, 10.3%	wetland contribution, Water Survey
SAFARI	80°04'20.4" W	49.54	undifferentiated	of Canada site
			42.7 % agriculture, 30.2 % wetland, 12.5 %	Mid-catchment, downstream of
	43°18'00.8" N,		forest, 3.6 % urban, 0.5 % open water, 0.5 %	agricultural field
CON4WE	80°03'57.5" W	83.93	extraction, 9.7% undifferentiated	-
			61.4 % agriculture, 13.7% wetland, 5.6% forest,	Mid-catchment, Water Survey of
	43°16'59.3" N,		7.8% urban, 0.3% open water, 2.2% extraction,	Canada site
HWY5	80°03'12.0" W	125.48	10 % undifferentiated	
			49.2 % agriculture, 22.9 % wetland, 10.9 %	Downstream of Christie Reservoir
	43°16'31.5" N,		forest, 5.8 % urban, 0.7% open water, 9.5%	
CROOKS	80°00'04.4" W	139.42	undifferentiated, 1% extraction	
			58.7 % agriculture, 7.9% wetland, 2.8 % forest,	Downstream of Lafarge Quarry
	43°16'56.1" N,		11.7 % urban, 1 % open water, 8.6 % extraction,	Reservoir
HARVEST	79°58'38.5" W	13.06	9.3 % undifferentiated	
			48.8 % agriculture, 20.8 % wetland, 10.8 %	Water Survey of Canada site,
	43°15'55.1" N,		forest, 7.7 % urban, 0.7% open water, 9.5%	Outlet of catchment
DUNDAS	79°57'53.0" W	158.65	undifferentiated, 1.5% extraction	

Table 4.1: Summary statistics of average DOC concentration, Fluorescence Index (FI), Freshness Index
$(\beta/\alpha)$ , Humification Index (HIX), SUVA <sub>254</sub> , and E2/E3 for all samples over the 2016-2018 study period.
Number of samples used to calculate differential statistics are listed beside the average and standard
deviation value.

Year	Site	DOC (mg/L)	FI	β/α	HIX	SUVA254	E2/E3
2016							
	GORE2	2.07 ± 1.42 (15)	$1.54 \pm 0.03$ (17)	$0.64 \pm 0.04$ (17)	$0.9 \pm 0.02$ (17)	3.72 ± 2.16 (13)	4.55 ± 0.31 (17)
	GORE3	2.25 ± 2.23 (15)	$1.60 \pm 0.04$ (16)	$0.66 \pm 0.04$ (16)	0.91 ± 0.02 (16)	3.25 ±1.07 (14)	5.11 ± 0.49 (16)
	VALENS	6.54 ± 0.62 (14)	$1.56 \pm 0.04$ (16)	0.75 ± 0.02 (16)	$0.84 \pm 0.01(16)$	2.65 ± 0.13 (13)	7.34 ± 0.53 (16)
	SAFARI	8.29 ± 0.81 (14)	$1.46 \pm 0.02$ (15)	0.58 ± 0.01 (15)	0.92 ± 0.01 (15)	4.03 ± 0.45 (13)	5.27 ± 0.19 (15)
	CON4WE	9.52 ± 1.69 (13)	1.5 ± 0.03 (12)	$0.60 \pm 0.02$ (12)	$0.92 \pm 0.02$ (12)	3.99 ± 0.22 (12)	$5.38 \pm 0.26$ (14)
	HWY5	11.65 ± 3.3 (15)	$1.54 \pm 0.03$ (16)	0.64 ± 0.03 (16)	$0.90 \pm 0.02$ (16)	3.46 ± 0.78 (14)	5.73 ± 0.37 (16)
	HARVEST	2.67 ± 0.62 (15)	$1.66 \pm 0.04$ (14)	$0.79 \pm 0.06$ (14)	0.81 ± 0.06 (14)	2.40 ± 1.05 (14)	5.96 ± 1.28 (15)
	CROOKS	8.91 ± 0.71 (15)	$1.55 \pm 0.03$ (15)	$0.67 \pm 0.03$ (15)	0.89 ± 0.01 (15)	3.26 ± 0.28 (14)	$6.52 \pm 0.66 \ (15)$
	DUNDAS	4.97 ± 0.72 (15)	1.56 ± 0.03 (14)	$0.69 \pm 0.02$ (14)	0.89 ± 0.01 (14)	3.04 ± 0.53 (14)	6.19 ± 0.52 (16)
2017							
	GORE2	8.37 ± 11.26 (12)	$1.54 \pm 0.02$ (8)	$0.61 \pm 0.04$ (8)	$0.89 \pm 0.06$ (8)	3.33 ± 3.36 (8)	$5.26 \pm 0.2$ (8)
	GORE3	3.02 ± 2.16 (10)	$1.57 \pm 0.02$ (7)	$0.61 \pm 0.02$ (7)	0.93 ± 0.01 (7)	2.80 ± 1.46 (8)	5.33 ± 0.6 (7)
	VALENS	14.88 ± 11.17 (11)	$1.54 \pm 0.04$ (8)	$0.69 \pm 0.04$ (8)	$0.84 \pm 0.05$ (8)	1.71 ± 1.14 (8)	$7.47 \pm 0.55$ (8)
	SAFARI	15.06 ± 8.01 (12)	$1.50 \pm 0.02$ (9)	$0.55 \pm 0.02 \ (9)$	0.94 ± 0.01 (9)	3.55 ± 0.97 (9)	$5.39 \pm 0.2$ (9)
	CON4WE	18.06 ± 8.80 (11)	$1.52 \pm 0.02$ (8)	$0.56 \pm 0.02$ (8)	$0.95 \pm 0.01$ (8)	3.16 ± 1.30 (7)	$5.39 \pm 0.22$ (9)
	HWY5	13.14 ± 5.88 (11)	1.53 ± 0.03 (7)	$0.58 \pm 0.02$ (7)	$0.94 \pm 0.01$ (7)	3.63 ± 0.82 (7)	5.63±0.37 (7)
	HARVEST	7.68 ± 8.44 (11)	$1.64 \pm 0.04$ (9)	$0.72\pm 0.05~(9)$	$0.87 \pm 0.04$ (9)	1.88 ± 0.90 (9)	7.57 ± 1.31 (8)
	CROOKS	15.97 ± 9.25 (11)	$1.53 \pm 0.02$ (7)	$0.62 \pm 0.03$ (7)	$0.92 \pm 0.02$ (7)	2.84 ± 1.48 (7)	$5.82 \pm 0.32$ (7)
	DUNDAS	$13.79 \pm 10.35(10)$	1.54 ± 0.02 (7)	$0.61 \pm 0.02$ (7)	0.92 ± 0.01 (7)	2.48 ± 1.42 (6)	5.85 ± 0.26 (7)
2018							
	GORE2	5.22 ± 5.00 (19)	$1.54 \pm 0.03$ (19)	$0.62 \pm 0.06$ (19)	0.88 ± 0.07 (19)	$2.4 \pm 0.90$ (19)	5.53±0.59 (19)
	GORE3	3.73 ± 1.48 (19)	1.57 ± 0.03 (19)	$0.62 \pm 0.04$ (19)	0.91 ± 0.04 (19)	2.41 ± 0.99 (19)	6.31 ± 1.99 (19)
	VALENS	9.53 ± 5.92 (19)	$1.55 \pm 0.05$ (20)	0.72 ± 0.03 (19)	0.84 ± 0.02 (19)	2.18 ± 0.81 (19)	$7.22 \pm 0.99$ (19)
	SAFARI	11.8 ± 2.88 (18)	$1.48 \pm 0.02$ (18)	$0.55 \pm 0.02 \ (18)$	$0.94 \pm 0.01$ (18)	3.65 ± 0.72 (18)	5.41 ± 0.12 (18)
	CON4WE	13.01 ± 7.03 (18)	$1.51 \pm 0.02$ (17)	$0.56 \pm 0.02 \ (17)$	$0.94 \pm 0.01$ (17)	3.89 ± 0.86 (17)	5.39 ± 0.19 (17)
	HWY5	12.91 ± 6.07 (18)	$1.52 \pm 0.02$ (18)	$0.58 \pm 0.01$ (18)	0.93 ± 0.01 (18)	3.41 ± 0.85 (18)	$5.55 \pm 0.24$ (18)
	HARVEST	5.77 ± 3.83 (18)	$1.65 \pm 0.05$ (18)	$0.72\pm 0.06~(18)$	$0.87 \pm 0.04$ (18)	$2.07 \pm 0.80$ (18)	7.33 ± 1.67 (18)
	CROOKS	12.45 ± 5.93 (18)	$1.53 \pm 0.02$ (16)	0.63 ± 0.03 (16)	$0.91 \pm 0.02$ (16)	3.05 ± 0.97 (16)	6.07 ± 0.73 (16)
	DUNDAS	8.60 ± 4.01 (18)	$1.54 \pm 0.02$ (18)	0.64 ± 0.03 (18)	0.92 ± 0.01 (18)	2.91 ± 0.68 (18)	6.37 ± 0.69 (18)

*Table 4.2:* Dunn's Test of Multiple Comparisons (p-values) for same site comparisons over the 2016-2018 study period. Post-hoc test used to identify which years were significantly different from another. P-values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p<0.05). Empty boxes in the table indicate there is no significant different for that specific parameter and site, therefore a post-hoc was not completed.

SITE	DOC	FI_2005	β/α	HIX_2002	SUVA254	E2/E3
GORE 2						
2016 - 2018	0.001244496				0.003314789	1.09E-06
2016 - 2017	0.004662258				0.073426194	0.000401381
2017 - 2018	0.354978616				0.160926095	0.19712077
GORE 3						
2016 - 2018	0.002615044		0.006470834			0.003676905
2016 - 2017	0.089847255		0.007975334			0.114497719
2017 - 2018	0.143736772		0.403043712			0.148272728
VALENS						
2016 - 2018	0.000199305		6.01E-05	0.004903983		
2016 - 2017	0.001340433		0.008014564	0.027694187		
2017 - 2018	0.252770019		0.060114571	0.172139356		
SAFARI						
2016 - 2018	1.78E-05	5.93E-05	7.50E-05	2.48E-05		
2016 - 2017	2.78E-05	0.018614966	0.000312676	0.001885232		
2017 - 2018	0.384413608	0.046385134	0.33007458	0.12515502		
CON4WE						
2016 - 2018	2.24E-05		7.66E-05	2.81E-05		
2016 - 2017	0.000964244		0.000725898	0.011438682		
2017 - 2018	0.133618185		0.361930885	0.03420994		
HWY5						
2016 - 2018			6.85E-05	1.62E-05		
2016 - 2017			0.000498642	0.01080978		
2017 - 2018			0.462971165	0.03118598		
HARVEST						
2016 - 2018	6.38E-05		0.004644238	0.010147304		0.001087716
2016 - 2017	0.001284345		0.011582142	0.01857878		0.01149383
2017 - 2018	0.197026582		0.408042382	0.389691153		0.294733802
CROOKS						
2016 - 2018	5.92E-06	0.008479553	0.004379269	0.000694847		0.004980185
2016 - 2017	1.51E-05	0.092389948	0.017406112	0.01501684		0.042571827
2017 - 2018	0.343501679	0.198564692	0.296987258	0.160592258		0.235813619
DUNDAS						
2016 - 2018	0.000116221		6.95E-05	6.69E-05		
2016 - 2017	0.001326089		0.000301394	0.001573549		
2017 - 2018	0.189457909		0.156507183	0.134240236		

Site	DOC (mg/L)	FI	β/α	HIX	SUVA254	E2/E3
GORE 2	5.01 ± 6.89	$1.54 \pm 0.03$	$0.62 \pm 0.05$	$0.89\pm0.05$	$3.02 \pm 2.05$	$5.05\pm0.65$
GORE 3	3.06 ± 1.99	$1.58\pm0.04$	$0.63\pm0.04$	$0.91\pm0.03$	2.77 ± 1.15	5.71 ± 1.64
VALENS	$10.02 \pm 7.49$	$1.55 \pm 0.04$	$0.72\pm0.04$	$0.84\pm0.03$	$2.24 \pm 0.81$	$7.34\pm0.58$
SAFARI	$11.57 \pm 5.18$	$1.48 \pm 0.02$	$0.56\pm0.02$	$0.93 \pm 0.01$	$3.75 \pm 0.72$	5.31 ± 0.16
CON4WE	$13.36 \pm 7.21$	$1.51 \pm 0.02$	$0.57\pm0.03$	$0.93\pm0.02$	$3.78 \pm 0.86$	$5.36 \pm 0.22$
HWY5	$12.55 \pm 5.17$	$1.53 \pm 0.03$	$0.60 \pm 0.04$	$0.92\pm0.02$	$3.47\pm0.80$	$5.65\pm0.34$
HARVEST	5.25 ± 5.25	$1.65 \pm 0.04$	$0.74\pm0.06$	$0.85\pm0.06$	$2.14 \pm 0.91$	$6.99 \pm 1.68$
CROOKS	$12.21 \pm 6.53$	$1.53 \pm 0.02$	$0.64\pm0.04$	$0.91\pm0.02$	$3.09\pm0.90$	$6.33\pm0.66$
DUNDAS	$8.66 \pm 6.55$	$1.55\pm0.02$	$0.65 \pm 0.04$	$0.91 \pm 0.02$	$2.89 \pm 0.79$	$6.20\pm0.57$

Table 4.3: Three-year averages and standard deviations of DOC concentration (mg/L) and indices data across all monitoring sites from 2016-2018.

*Table 4.4:* Results from Spearman rho correlation test of DOC and DOM quality indices against percent land use cover. P values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p < 0.05). Rho values (R) range from -1 to +1.

Agriculture						
	DOC	FI	β/α	HIX	SUVA	E2/E3
P-value	2.18E-08	<2.20E-16	<2.20E-16	4.10E-05	5.40E-06	2.40E-09
R	-0.29	0.61	0.45	-0.23	-0.25	0.33
Wetland						
	DOC	FI	β/α	HIX	SUVA	E2/E3
P-value	<2.20E-16	<2.20E-16	<2.20E-16	1.00E-15	3.30E-16	<2.20E-16
R	0.44	-0.74	-0.66	0.43	0.44	-0.47
Urban						
	DOC	FI	β/α	HIX	SUVA	E2/E3
P-value	4.60E-06	5.20E-03	8.50E-04	0.3600	0.4600	4.00E-08
R	0.24	0.19	0.19	-0.05	-0.04	0.30

*Table 4.5:* Results from linear regression of log DOC concentration -log discharge relationships by site. P values indicate if slopes are significantly different from zero. P values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p < 0.05).

	Watershed Scale (All Sites)	GORE2	GORE3	VALENS	SAFARI	CON4WE	HWY5	HARVEST	CROOKS	DUNDAS
Slope	0.1614	0.5713	-0.07201	0.07772	0.08021	0.08452	-0.02943	0.108	-0.09147	0.1802
F	57.37	5.976	0.3466	1.237	6.402	4.499	1.153	3.531	1.325	6.643
P-value	<0.0001	0.0195	0.5609	0.2738	0.0155	0.0411	0.2901	0.0691	0.2667	0.0148

*Table 4.6*: Loadings from the Principal Component Analysis. Loadings range from -1 to +1, and are interpreted similar to correlations.

	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	
DOC	0.11	-0.85	0.12	-0.49	0.14	
FRESH (β/α)	-0.57	0.14	0.14	-0.10	0.79	
HIX	0.52	-0.18	-0.42	0.48	0.54	
SUVA	0.44	0.46	-0.23	-0.71	0.19	
E2/E3	-0.45	-0.13	-0.86	-0.13	-0.17	

*Table 5.1:* Results from correlation of PC1 along with land use, stream temperature, and discharge. Correlations for PC1 vs. land use were determined using the Spearman Rho correlation test, whereas PC1 vs. stream temperature and discharge used the Pearson correlation test. P values are bolded where the variables are statistically correlated.

	% Wetland	% Agriculture	Stream Temperature (°C)	logDischarge (m <sup>3</sup> s)
R	0.64	-0.39	-0.19	0.33
P-value	<2.2 E-16	1.1 E-10	0.003	6.0E-8
Test	Spearman	Spearman	Pearson	Pearson

# **FIGURES**



*Figure 3.1:* Map of the study area in the Spencer Creek watershed. All monitoring sites are symbolized by red circles, with the watercourse in blue.



M.Sc. Thesis – S. Singh; McMaster University – School of Geography and Earth Sciences

*Figure 3.2:* Land use map of the study area within the Spencer Creek watershed. A land use analysis on ArcGIS was performed merging the Southern Ontario Land Use Information System 2.0 (2016) layer and the Agriculture Canada Annual Crop Inventory (2016) layer. Spencer Creek is 49% agriculture, 21% wetland, 11% forest, 8% urban, 2% extraction, 1% open water, and 10% undefined.



*Figure 4.1:* Total precipitation and monthly average air temperature during the 2016-2018 study period. Data obtained from the Hamilton RBG Weather Station (43.28 N, 79.88 W).



Figure 4.2: Discharge (m<sup>3</sup>/s) over 2016-2018. Note, Y axes scales differ due to differences in discharge magnitudes.



Figure 4.3: Total monthly runoff (mm) over 2016-2018. Runoff was normalized to the total contributing area to each site.





Figure 4.4: Boxplot of DOC concentration (mg/L) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.





*Figure 4.5:* DOC concentrations and indices vs. percent contributing wetland cover. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 4.4).



*Figure 4.6:* DOC concentrations and indices vs. percent contributing agricultural cover. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 4.4).



*Figure 4.7:* DOC concentrations and indices vs. percent contributing urban cover. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 4.4).



Figure 4.8: DOC concentrations (mg/L) over time, for the 2016-2018 study period





*Figure 4.9:* Log DOC concentration- log discharge relationships by site over 2016-2018. Trendlines indicate significant relationships between the variables (p < 0.05) (Table 4.5).





*Figure 4.10:* Watershed scale log DOC concentration- log discharge plots on logarithmic axes. All points of instantaneous concentration and discharge collected over 2016-2018 are plotted here with a trendline displaying a significant positive slope of 0.16 (p < 0.05).





Figure 4.11: Boxplot of the Fluorescence Index (FI) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.



*Figure 4.12:* Boxplot of the Freshness Index ( $\beta/\alpha$ ) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.



Figure 4.13: Boxplot of the Humification Index (HIX) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.





*Figure 4.14*: Boxplot of the SUVA<sub>254</sub> (L/mg-M) distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.



Figure 4.15: Boxplot of the E2/E3 distribution at all sites over 2016-2018.



*Figure 4.16:* PCA analysis for DOC and indices data collected over the study period for all 9 sites. Biplots of the PCA are coloured according to these landscape groupings, with ellipses on the plot representing 80% probability of values being within the shape.



M.Sc. Thesis – S. Singh; McMaster University – School of Geography and Earth Sciences

*Figure 4.17:* Regressions of PCI to DOC concentrations and DOM indices. Samples are grouped by landscape units within the watershed.



*Figure 4.18:* Regressions of PC2 to DOC concentrations and DOM indices. Samples are grouped by landscape units within the watershed.



 $\delta^{18}O$ 

*Figure 4.19*: Plot of  $\delta^2$ H ‰ vs.  $\delta^{18}$ O ‰ over 2016-2018 across the different landscape units. The solid line is the LMWL whereas the dashed line is the LEL.



Stream Temperature (°C), 2016-2018

Figure 4.20: Boxplot of stream temperature (°C) distributions at all sites over 2016-2018.



*Figure 5.1:* The proposed conceptual model of DOC transfer and water movement within the Spencer Creek watershed during (A) dry vs (B) wet conditions. Monitoring sites are grouped by landscape units. Dashed red arrows indicate limited DOC transfer whereas solid red arrows indicate greater transfer of DOC. The thickness of the red arrows indicates the magnitude of DOC concentrations relative to other regions in the watershed. Circular red arrows represent processing of DOM. Blue lines represent the watercourse through Spencer Creek during low runoff conditions, whereas the shaded blue lines represent higher runoff conditions. Shaded green wetland regions represent greater hydrologic connectivity between landscape and stream during wet conditions.



M.Sc. Thesis – S. Singh; McMaster University – School of Geography and Earth Sciences

*Figure 5.2:* Correlation plots of PC1 versus land use, stream temperature, and log discharge. Trendlines indicate significant correlations between the variables (Table 5.1).
## **APPENDIX – Supplemental Data**

Site	DOC (mg/L)	FI	β/α	HIX	SUVA254	E2/E3
GORE 2	0.00264	0.3156	0.1535	0.5265	0.02361	2.71E-06
GORE 3	0.018	0.06058	0.01188	0.1933	0.1184	0.0265
VALENS	0.0005159	0.4125	0.0003481	0.03292	0.1291	0.9731
SAFARI	9.25E-06	0.0004938	8.05E-05	9.47E-05	0.6401	0.32
CON4WE	9.21E-05	0.4213	0.0001713	0.0002476	0.1461	0.1577
HWY5	0.3406	0.4121	7.44E-05	0.0001592	0.4619	0.4802
HARVEST	0.0002336	0.5939	0.01394	0.03084	0.5062	0.004341
CROOKS	2.54E-06	0.04932	0.01359	0.003035	0.6352	0.03595
DUNDAS	0.0002948	0.1154	8.55E-05	0.0001748	0.491	0.09201

*Table A1:* Kruskal Wallis Test results (p-values) for same site comparisons over the 2016-2018 study period. P values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p<0.05).

*Table A2:* Dunn's Test of Multiple Comparisons (p-values) for same site comparisons over the 2016-2018 study period. Post-hoc test used to identify which years were significantly different from another. P-values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p<0.05). Empty boxes in the table indicate there is no significant different for that specific parameter and site, therefore a post-hoc was not completed.

SITE	DOC	FI_2005	β/α	HIX_2002	SUVA <sub>254</sub>	E2/E3
GORE 2						
2016 - 2018	0.001244496				0.003314789	1.09E-06
2016 - 2017	0.004662258				0.073426194	0.000401381
2017 - 2018	0.354978616				0.160926095	0.19712077
GORE 3						
2016 - 2018	0.002615044		0.006470834			0.003676905
2016 - 2017	0.089847255		0.007975334			0.114497719
2017 - 2018	0.143736772		0.403043712			0.148272728
VALENS						
2016 - 2018	0.000199305		6.01E-05	0.004903983		
2016 - 2017	0.001340433		0.008014564	0.027694187		
2017 - 2018	0.252770019		0.060114571	0.172139356		
SAFARI						
2016 - 2018	1.78E-05	5.93E-05	7.50E-05	2.48E-05		
2016 - 2017	2.78E-05	0.018614966	0.000312676	0.001885232		
2017 - 2018	0.384413608	0.046385134	0.33007458	0.12515502		
CON4WE						
2016 - 2018	2.24E-05		7.66E-05	2.81E-05		
2016 - 2017	0.000964244		0.000725898	0.011438682		
2017 - 2018	0.133618185		0.361930885	0.03420994		
HWY5						
2016 - 2018			6.85E-05	1.62E-05		
2016 - 2017			0.000498642	0.01080978		
2017 - 2018			0.462971165	0.03118598		
HARVEST						
2016 - 2018	6.38E-05		0.004644238	0.010147304		0.001087716
2016 - 2017	0.001284345		0.011582142	0.01857878		0.01149383
2017 - 2018	0.197026582		0.408042382	0.389691153		0.294733802
CROOKS						
2016 - 2018	5.92E-06	0.008479553	0.004379269	0.000694847		0.004980185
2016 - 2017	1.51E-05	0.092389948	0.017406112	0.01501684		0.042571827
2017 - 2018	0.343501679	0.198564692	0.296987258	0.160592258		0.235813619
DUNDAS						
2016 - 2018	0.000116221		6.95E-05	6.69E-05		
2016 - 2017	0.001326089		0.000301394	0.001573549		
2017 - 2018	0.189457909		0.156507183	0.134240236		

Table A3: Kruskal Wallis Test results (p-values) for same year comparisons between the 9 sites
P-values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p<0.05).

Year	DOC	FI_2005	β/α	HIX_2002	SUVA254	E2/E3
2016	2.20E-16	8.65E-16	3.74E-09	1.02E-14	8.08E-11	2.20E-16
2017	7.78E-08	1.69E-06	3.74E-09	1.09E-08	0.04101	2.49E-08
2018	2.30E-15	2.20E-16	2.20E-16	2.20E-16	3.74E-11	1.60E-12

*Table A4:* Dunn's Test of Multiple Comparisons (p-values) for same year comparisons between sites for DOC and FDOM indices. Post-hoc test was used to identify which sites were significantly different. P-values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p<0.05).

DOC								
2016								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.44899945							
DUNDAS	7.39E-05	7.09E-05						
GORE2	1.08E-08	6.88E-09	0.030652984					
GORE3	1.80E-09	1.04E-09	0.014394287	0.37634766				
HARVEST	3.08E-07	2.31E-07	0.108174089	0.26271902	0.17103768			
HWY5	0.27207864	0.22289176	2.47E-06	6.02E-11	7.19E-12	3.24E-09		
SAFARI	0.19886064	0.22788633	0.001380821	6.76E-07	1.36E-07	1.29E-05	0.06745358	
VALENS	0.00398176	0.00440068	0.131517789	0.00154831	0.00054234	0.00979682	0.00037738	0.03271171
2017								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.13016792							
DUNDAS	0.02104878	0.17574627						
GORE2	3.89E-05	0.00235949	0.033489994					
GORE3	4.27E-08	1.05E-05	0.000571019	0.06796364				
HARVEST	5.19E-05	0.00292665	0.038898524	0.47220536	0.05945974			
HWY5	0.08057915	0.39143195	0.253932113	0.00538573	3.37E-05	0.00656361		
SAFARI	0.27725291	0.37621646	0.107451143	0.00084172	2.52E-06	0.00106557	0.01992526	
VALENS	0.20892276	0.17626394	0.49104995	0.02898543	0.00041086	0.03391075	0.25652099	0.10654195
2018								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.36358706							
DUNDAS	0.01130453	0.02673598						
GORE2	1.87E-07	1.13E-06	0.002791307					
GORE3	2.26E-09	1.79E-08	0.000190089	0.21391126				
HARVEST	8.95E-06	4.06E-05	0.022237335	0.2312383	0.06464475			
HWY5	0.4191381	0.44243908	0.018952623	5.44E-07	7.69E-09	2.20E-05		
SAFARI	0.4937369	0.36949652	0.011778545	2.03E-07	2.49E-09	9.61E-06	0.42528194	
VALENS	0.01427915	0.03318176	0.451825199	0.00168237	9.76E-05	0.01547884	0.02370092	0.01486685

FI								
2016								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00808715							
DUNDAS	0.0015077	0.26317717						
GORE2	0.01804048	0.3451364	0.14835593					
GORE3	1.11E-06	0.00741209	0.04009586	0.00175329				
HARVEST	2.88E-10	2.52E-05	0.00038596	2.50E-06	0.0424101			
HWY5	0.04547655	0.21315595	0.0771351	0.33886605	0.00050884	4.85E-07		
SAFARI	0.10133351	4.77E-05	3.95E-06	0.0001452	7.71E-11	1.54E-15	0.00076474	
VALENS	0.00062773	0.20154246	0.42945405	0.10239947	0.05187084	0.00049178	0.04859679	7.91E-07
2017								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.26377095							
DUNDAS	0.12688318	0.31089756						
GORE2	0.16245435	0.37475787	0.42457301					
GORE3	0.0040326	0.02538025	0.07211878	0.0447268				
HARVEST	1.72E-05	0.0004117	0.00238941	0.00087724	0.10154271			
HWY5	0.33681358	0.4192156	0.2428362	0.29810257	0.01548728	0.00018467		
SAFARI	0.08141229	0.02304967	0.00590595	0.00800703	2.39E-05	5.72E-09	0.0376844	
VALENS	0.06276064	0.19813702	0.36737709	0.29198879	0.12114731	0.00515191	0.14482677	0.00147907
2018								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.04756216							
DUNDAS	0.00174984	0.11853891						
GORE2	0.00977706	0.27962445	0.26347742					
GORE3	1.44E-06	0.0019199	0.04029218	0.00791535				
HARVEST	2.02E-11	7.67E-07	9.35E-05	4.96E-06	0.02073158			
HWY5	0.09069715	0.35330695	0.05405987	0.15972029	0.00036831	4.58E-08		
SAFARI	0.03737741	0.00028457	9.18E-07	1.32E-05	2.32E-11	8.95E-18	0.00077817	
VALENS	0.00038655	0.0577808	0.35410895	0.15171557	0.07861789	0.00027126	0.02155245	6.86E-08

β/α								
2016								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00131077							
DUNDAS	4.40E-05	0.15491851						
GORE2	0.044427	0.06960323	0.00625957					
GORE3	0.00367411	0.34671574	0.07804111	0.13628006				
HARVEST	4.11E-10	0.00038346	0.01046011	4.42E-07	7.13E-05			
HWY5	0.05848064	0.05741959	0.00494338	0.45103419	0.11465149	3.44E-07		
SAFARI	0.17063934	1.33E-05	1.35E-07	0.00217653	5.36E-05	3.39E-14	0.00355927	
VALENS	7.11E-10	0.00071337	0.01783202	8.15E-07	0.00013494	0.38804317	6.34E-07	4.42E-14
2017								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00351856							
DUNDAS	0.00924513	0.37120911						
GORE2	0.02030646	0.23667222	0.35285755					
GORE3	0.00782991	0.39377431	0.47641334	0.33043417				
HARVEST	1.85E-07	0.01641573	0.00651905	0.00145493	0.00776066			
HWY5	0.14172484	0.05809598	0.10706162	0.1826182	0.09654973	7.22E-05		
SAFARI	0.33659076	0.00075052	0.00235745	0.00572585	0.00193456	6.93E-09	0.06574814	
VALENS	3.59E-06	0.05038324	0.02381919	0.00732402	0.02746165	0.32083322	0.00054997	2.32E-07
2018								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	5.20E-05							
DUNDAS	1.46E-06	0.25198385						
GORE2	0.00041951	0.24248744	0.0780282					
GORE3	8.62E-05	0.38655905	0.15975129	0.33402921				
HARVEST	3.67E-13	0.0008864	0.00565056	3.36E-05	0.00018351			
HWY5	0.044932	0.0117558	0.00124913	0.0499149	0.01928904	1.37E-08		
SAFARI	0.32997107	6.28E-06	1.05E-07	6.10E-05	9.99E-06	5.63E-15	0.01510621	
VALENS	1.19E-13	0.00063347	0.00430534	2.05E-05	0.00012005	0.47612392	6.30E-09	1.54E-15

HIX								
2016								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00389202							
DUNDAS	0.00828787	0.40625728						
GORE2	0.03071934	0.17906108	0.25534142					
GORE3	0.31025669	0.00959549	0.01974966	0.06920824				
HARVEST	1.05E-07	0.00325368	0.00181573	0.00010621	2.07E-07			
HWY5	0.03588505	0.16986937	0.24299176	0.47987758	0.07926276	0.00010754		
SAFARI	0.2049633	0.00010919	0.00034282	0.00191666	0.07866765	1.05E-10	0.00254557	
VALENS	1.33E-08	0.00117437	0.00062232	2.31E-05	2.21E-08	0.41116688	2.42E-05	5.30E-12
2017								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00328445							
DUNDAS	0.00574666	0.4267868						
GORE2	8.46E-05	0.17993167	0.13431154					
GORE3	0.01143952	0.33416375	0.4036604	0.08721262				
HARVEST	2.61E-06	0.05468778	0.03618668	0.24660714	0.01991825			
HWY5	0.21435928	0.03106397	0.04639886	0.00224029	0.07536794	0.0001721		
SAFARI	0.33052096	0.00893032	0.0149	0.00029994	0.0278062	1.10E-05	0.34828351	
VALENS	1.27E-07	0.01185385	0.00709442	0.08174075	0.00342213	0.22703397	1.40E-05	5.71E-07
2018								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00065498							
DUNDAS	0.00022856	0.42397624						
GORE2	9.61E-06	0.18251664	0.23142855					
GORE3	0.00105641	0.3917892	0.31432707	0.10849528				
HARVEST	1.71E-09	0.00523776	0.00732595	0.04097472	0.00155194			
HWY5	0.06218586	0.04045733	0.022926	0.00291042	0.06178817	4.55E-06		
SAFARI	0.47183644	0.00043813	0.00014306	5.16E-06	0.00070493	6.46E-10	0.05146625	
VALENS	1.16E-13	4.59E-05	6.28E-05	0.00083474	5.99E-06	0.08672063	2.34E-09	2.93E-14

SUVA254								
2016								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00096755							
DUNDAS	9.13E-05	0.25202544						
GORE2	0.0024557	0.40407452	0.18447161					
GORE3	0.00172779	0.4273218	0.19729404	0.4748664				
HARVEST	6.61E-09	0.00358673	0.02166302	0.00198059	0.00204019			
HWY5	0.02404008	0.12115614	0.03307866	0.18285045	0.16205921	5.72E-05		
SAFARI	0.42951979	0.00143327	0.00013774	0.00357763	0.00253993	9.54E-09	0.03330266	
VALENS	4.15E-08	0.00808706	0.04011764	0.0046603	0.0048727	0.40770214	0.00019092	6.13E-08
2017								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.2400357							
DUNDAS	0.12951816	0.32628724						
GORE2	0.18507218	0.43374189	0.38061535					
GORE3	0.23342085	0.49931376	0.32081766	0.43073928				
HARVEST	0.01610211	0.08183388	0.19583485	0.10260751	0.07403475			
HWY5	0.32526498	0.12318452	0.05891757	0.0862702	0.11594377	0.00436599		
SAFARI	0.37019769	0.13999206	0.06574722	0.0971122	0.13164857	0.00409714	0.44070701	
VALENS	0.01200876	0.06331818	0.1586402	0.07950597	0.05672273	0.42763396	0.00321768	0.00300333
2018								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.0072484							
DUNDAS	0.00059291	0.23790151						
GORE2	2.18E-06	0.02222489	0.09201565					
GORE3	3.81E-06	0.02910643	0.11332085	0.45183115				
HARVEST	3.22E-08	0.00223295	0.01405607	0.18492686	0.15478211			
HWY5	0.08774202	0.12614844	0.02774399	0.00053929	0.00081692	1.97E-05		
SAFARI	0.2114199	0.04557216	0.00663573	6.20E-05	0.00010013	1.49E-06	0.28727445	
VALENS	5.82E-08	0.00342323	0.02043822	0.23385267	0.1984268	0.42841507	3.37E-05	2.63E-06

E2/E3								
2016								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.0005852							
DUNDAS	0.00758269	0.18847044						
GORE2	0.00269626	2.19E-10	2.75E-08					
GORE3	0.1619388	6.48E-06	0.00020405	0.03239751				
HARVEST	0.032282	0.07744474	0.28716519	9.04E-07	0.00177492			
HWY5	0.09395876	0.02192651	0.12493663	9.92E-06	0.00855985	0.28425043		
SAFARI	0.28542459	5.22E-05	0.00111103	0.0125352	0.33779918	0.00698927	0.02699723	
VALENS	4.79E-07	0.05120104	0.00525671	4.81E-16	5.53E-10	0.00104005	0.00010399	1.23E-08
2017								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.02085663							
DUNDAS	0.00871051	0.37379872						
GORE2	0.2310488	0.00375527	0.00132494					
GORE3	0.28787775	0.08191333	0.04325287	0.10835229				
HARVEST	1.44E-05	0.0259385	0.0535038	8.79E-07	0.00035963			
HWY5	0.09714668	0.24316491	0.15434681	0.02533126	0.24316491	0.00387074		
SAFARI	0.49306831	0.02005456	0.00833393	0.23621219	0.28235859	1.34E-05	0.09438335	
VALENS	8.43E-06	0.01984701	0.04230375	4.88E-07	0.00023712	0.45353944	0.00275239	7.81E-06
2018								
	CON4WE	CROOKS	DUNDAS	GORE2	GORE3	HARVEST	HWY5	SAFARI
CROOKS	0.00223788							
DUNDAS	2.23E-05	0.12776228						
GORE2	0.21900984	0.01558468	0.00032392					
GORE3	0.00729354	0.30334486	0.04282275	0.04314906				
HARVEST	1.81E-07	0.01673991	0.15393675	4.41E-06	0.00295972			
HWY5	0.11767217	0.04330845	0.00165018	0.3324988	0.10403406	3.78E-05		
SAFARI	0.42379748	0.00354669	3.95E-05	0.27774402	0.01126016	3.40E-07	0.15647883	
VALENS	1.06E-08	0.00475094	0.06842419	3.42E-07	0.00057563	0.32482502	4.00E-06	2.03E-08

*Table A5:* Kruskal Wallis Test results (p-values) for same year comparisons between the 4 landscape classifications. P-values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p<0.05).

Year	DOC	FI	$\beta/\alpha$	HIX	SUVA <sub>254</sub>	E2/E3
2016	2.20E-16	3.44E-11	2.20E-16	2.42E-13	7.51E-11	2.20E-16
2017	5.93E-08	5.31E-05	2.20E-10	8.37E-10	0.004	3.68E-09
2018	3.62E-15	8.42 E-13	2.20E-16	2.20E-16	1.33E-11	4.91E-13

*Table A6:* Dunn's Test of Multiple Comparisons (p-values) for same year comparisons between landscape classifications for DOC and FDOM indices. Post-hoc test was used to identify which sites were significantly different. P-values are bolded where there is statistical significance (p < 0.05).

- DOC			
2016			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	1.09E-19		
OUTLET	0.009572734	1.35E-06	
RESERVOIR	2.35E-07	4.35E-06	0.065249762
2017			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	8.16E-10		
OUTLET	0.001878555	0.05600283	
RESERVOIR	0.000187039	0.002549264	0.371858914
2018			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	2.51E-17		
OUTLET	0.000138831	0.00343938	
RESERVOIR	3.60E-07	6.88E-05	0.492374081

FI_2005			
2016			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	7.56E-08		
OUTLET	0.357544022	0.000177853	
RESERVOIR	0.164586195	7.54E-12	0.13323575
2017			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.000448272		
OUTLET	0.247926178	0.034453936	
RESERVOIR	0.268660242	3.56E-06	0.1153886
2018			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	4.49E-09		
OUTLET	0.260871572	7.02E-05	
RESERVOIR	0.229966182	5.04E-13	0.10593575
FRESH			
2016			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.000773617		
OUTLET	0.012394827	1.25E-06	
RESERVOIR	<b>3.66E-07</b>	9.94E-19	0.08541551
2017			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.000752211		
OUTLET	0.022377315	0.004143417	
RESERVOIR	0.001919298	2.34E-12	0.42251102
2018			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	<b>4.95E-07</b>		
OUTLET	0.082651733	6.89E-08	
RESERVOIR	6.87E-06	2.43E-24	0.02663892

M.Sc. Thesis – S. Singh; McMaster University – School of Geography and Earth Sciences

HIX_2002			
2016			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.089903695		
OUTLET	0.063153445	0.004749785	
RESERVOIR	1.19E-08	4.54E-14	0.00485039
2017			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	1.97E-05		
OUTLET	0.29660749	0.004927107	
RESERVOIR	0.048295981	2.32E-11	0.03270982
2018			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	3.22E-07		
OUTLET	0.44275204	9.67E-05	
RESERVOIR	0.000845182	3.26E-19	0.00469493
SUVA <sub>254</sub>			
2016			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.00042145	3	
OUTLET	0.15564636	1 8.74E-05	5
RESERVOIR	0.00179750	2 1.67E-12	<b>2</b> 0.1049146
2017			
2017	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.04290962	5	
OUTLET	0.3321690	3 <b>0.04715461</b> 4	4
RESERVOIR	0.06685312	6 <b>0.0001749</b> 3	<b>3</b> 0.2724904
2018			
2018	ΗΕΔΌΨΑΤΕΡΟ	ΜΙΔ-ΓΔΤΓΗΜΕΝΤ	ομτι έτ
ΜΙΔ-ΓΑΤΟΗΜΕΝΤ	ПЕЛЬ W АТЕКО 1 <b>7</b> 0г и		OUILEI
	1.49E-0 0.07025526	Q 0.00002041	2
DESERVOD	0.0700024		0.0627720
KESEKVÜIK	0.49/00034	2 <b>3./6E-1</b>	0.063//30

M.Sc. Thesis – S. Singh; McMaster University – School of Geography and Earth Sciences

E2/E3			
2016			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.000267741		
OUTLET	1.05E-07	0.003407058	
RESERVOIR	1.17E-17	2.71E-08	0.112375582
2017			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.231980272		
OUTLET	0.00301079	0.008639201	
RESERVOIR	2.66E-08	2.96E-08	0.102029256
2018			
	HEADWATERS	MID-CATCHMENT	OUTLET
MID-CATCHMENT	0.037376509		
OUTLET	0.001597573	3.72E-06	
RESERVOIR	8.67E-07	3.42E-13	0.263099751

## M.Sc. Thesis – S. Singh; McMaster University – School of Geography and Earth Sciences